
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Tuesday, 12 February 2019
:

Committee: 
People Overview Committee

Date: Wednesday, 20 February 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, 
Shropshire, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Director of Legal and Democratic Services

Members of the Committee

Peggy Mullock (Chair)
Kevin Turley (Vice-Chair)
Clare Aspinall
Hannah Fraser
Christian Lea

Matt Lee
Elliott Lynch
Cecilia Motley
Kevin Pardy
John Price

Co-opted Members (Voting):

Carol Morgan Diocese of Shrewsbury (RC)
Sian Lines Diocese of Hereford (CE)
Vacancy Parent Governor – Secondary Schools
Vacancy Parent Governor – Primary & Special Schools

Co-opted Members (Non-Voting):
Mark Hignett Voluntary and Community Sector 

Assembly



Substitute Members:
Roy Aldcroft
Dean Carroll
Julian Dean
Rob Gittins
Roger Hughes

Jane MacKenzie
David Vasmer
Claire Wild
Paul Wynn

Your Committee Officer is: 

Tim Ward  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257713
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies and Substitutions 

To receive apologies for absence from Members of the Committee

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded they must not participate in the discussion or vote on 
any matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave 
the room prior to the commencement of the debate.

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)

The minutes of the last meeting, held on 19 December 2018 are attached for 
confirmation.

4 Public Question Time 

To receive any public questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has 
been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this 
meeting is 10.00am on 19 February 2019

5 Members' Question Time 

To receive any questions of which Members of the Council have given notice.

Deadline for notification: 10.00am on 19 February 2019

6 Committee Update 

To receive updates on items not on the agenda

7 Early Help Hubs 

To receive a verbal update from the Head of Early Help Partnerships and 
Commissioning



8 Progress and Impact of the Delivery of the Ofsted Action Plan (Pages 5 - 
68)

The report of the Assistant Director, Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding is 
attached

9 SEND Peer Review 

To receive an update from the Director of Children’s Services

10 Work Programme (Pages 69 - 90)

The Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme is attached

11 Date of Next Meeting 

Members are reminded that the next meeting of the People Overview 
Committee will be held on Wednesday 27 March 2019 at 10.00am



PEOPLE OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2018
2.00  - 3.36 pm in the Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Tim Ward
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257713

Present 
Councillors Peggy Mullock (Chairman), Kevin Turley (Vice-Chair), Christian Lea, 
Elliott Lynch, Cecilia Motley, Kevin Pardy and David Vasmer (Substitute) (substitute for 
Hannah Fraser)

23 Apologies and Substitutions 

23.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hannah Fraser and John 
Price and from Sian Lines (Diocese of Hereford)

23.2 Councillor David Vasmer substituted for Councillor Hannah Fraser. 

24 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

24.1 There were no declarations of pecuniary interest

25 Minutes 

25.1 The minutes of the meeting held on 19 September 2018 had been circulated.

25.2 Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting of the People Overview Committee held on 19 
September 2018 be approved as a true record and signed by the Chairman.

26 Public Question Time 

26.1 There were no questions from members of the public.

27 Members' Question Time 

27.1 There were no questions from Members

28 Shropshire Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 

28.1 Members received the Annual Report of the Shropshire Safeguarding Children’s 
Board (SSCB) for 2017 -18.



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 19 December 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 2

28.2 The Independent Chair SSCB gave a presentation (copy attached to the signed 
minutes) which outlined the work of the SSCB, and the priorities for the forthcoming 
year.

28.3 The Independent Chair reminded Members that the 3 priorities for the Board had 
been: -

 Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing Children
 Neglect 
 Domestic Abuse

He advised the meeting that there had been a slight decrease in the number of 
referrals of CSE, most of the referrals concerning females being referred by 
schools, social workers and school nurses.  He informed Members that schools had 
access to E Safety resources which had been recognised nationally as an example 
of good practice. 

The Independent Chair advised the number of children subject to a child protection 
plan (CPP) as a result of neglect had reduced slightly. 

The Independent Chair advised that there had been a slight increase in the number 
of children exposed to domestic abuse. 

28.4 The Independent Chair advised Members that that “Working Together 2018” would 
lead to a change in that the three key agencies would have joint and equal 
responsibility for the running of the board and that this should be in place by April 
2019

28.5 The Independent Chair advised that areas of focus for the forthcoming year would 
be

• Improved data analysis and collection
• A consistent approach to hearing the voice of children and young people
• Continued regionalised working
• Addressing Single Agency pressures such as finances and increasing workload

 
28.6 A Member asked about the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements, especially 

when one of the agencies changed the way it worked.  The Independent Chair 
assured the meeting that the various agencies worked well together and that where 
a partner agency was changing its methods a safeguarding impact assessment 
was always carried out.  The Independent Chair informed the meeting that he was 
meeting with the Police & Crime Commissioner and the Chief Executive of the CCG 
to examine any issues and seek solutions.

28.7 A Member expressed concern that Shropshire had higher levels of neglect than its 
statistical neighbours and asked whether they were doing things that Shropshire 
were not.  The Director of Children’s Services comment that the higher levels were 
probably as a result of how families in Shropshire operated rather then what 
Councils were or were not doing.



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 19 December 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 3

28.8 The Chair thanked the Independent Chair for his presentation

29 Education Achievement 

29.1 Members received the report of the Principal Education Improvement Adviser which 
set out the educational performance of pupils in Shropshire.

29.2 The Principal Education Improvement Adviser informed the meeting that in 2018 
the proportion of children in the Early Years Foundation Stage who reached a Good 
Level of Development (GLD) fell below the national average and the gap between 
the achievements of children eligible for Free School Meals (FSM) increased, and 
that at Key stage 1 (pupils aged 5 – 7 years) pupils’ attainment across 5 of the 6 
attainment measures for reading, writing and mathematics showed improvement 
over the period 2016 – 2018 but that attainment remained just below the national 
averages in all but 2 of these performance indicators, but the gaps between the 
achievements of pupils eligible for FSM had increased. 

The Principal Education Improvement Adviser reported that overall pupils’ progress 
in reading and mathematics from the end of key stage 1 to the end of key stage 2 
had declined. Pupils’ progress in writing has remained the same and is just below 
national expectation. The gaps between the progress of disadvantaged pupils and 
their peers have narrowed in reading, writing and mathematics. 

The Principal Education Improvement Adviser informed Members that Pupils’ 
attainment at the end of key stage 4 was very close to the national average. Their 
overall progress (across 8 subject areas) had increased marginally from 2017 and 
was just below the national figure, and that pupils’ progress in English and 
mathematics was also just below the national averages. He advised that the gaps 
between the attainment and progress of disadvantaged pupils and their peers at the 
end of key stage 4 had increased. 

29.3 The Principal Education Improvement Adviser informed Members that based on 
data at 31st August 2018:

90% of Shropshire primary schools were rated good or outstanding compared to a 
national average of 87% and 85% in West Midlands and

89% of Shropshire of secondary schools were rated good or outstanding compared 
to a national average of 75% and a west midlands average of 75%. 

29.4 The Principal Education Improvement Adviser informed the meeting that among 
priorities for improvement were:-

 To reduce the gap between the performance of disadvantaged pupils and their 
peers

 Increase performance in mathematics at key stage 1 and 2 

He outlined the work that was ongoing around these priorities and it was agreed 
that details of this work would be circulated to Members.



Minutes of the People Overview Committee held on 19 December 2018

Contact: Tim Ward on 01743 257713 4

29.5 The Chair thanked Officers for their report and congratulated them on the work that 
they did.

30 Work Programme 

30.1 Members received the report of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer which set out the 
proposed work programme for Overview and Scrutiny for the forthcoming year.

30.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Officer took Members through the work programme.

30.3 The Chairman asked Members to advise her or the Scrutiny Officer of any further 
items that they would like to add to the work programme.

31 Date of Next Meeting 

31.1 Members were reminded that the next meeting of the People Overview Committee 
would be held on Wednesday 30 January 2019 at 10.00am

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 



People Overview 
Committee

20 February 2019

Item

Public

Ofsted action plan and care leaver action plan

Colleen Male, Assistant Director Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding
colleen.male@shropshire.gov.uk 
01743 254254

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report and accompanying plans provide an overview of the council’s progress 
against recommendations following the single inspection framework Ofsted 
inspection that took place in September and October 2017 and a visit to Shropshire 
from Mark Riddell, a Department for Education national advisor for care leavers in 
February 2018.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Committee members to agree that the service: 
 close down the Ofsted action plan and care leaver action plans and
 monitor on-going work as part of on-going service improvement work, with 

on-going oversight through quality assurance framework and Corporate 
Parenting Panel.       

3.0 Background 

3.1 The Ofsted Action Plan was put into place and agreed at People Overview 
Committee on 31 January 2018 following the single inspection framework Ofsted 
inspection that took place in September and October 2017. The Ofsted Action Plan 
covered all 12 recommendations made by Ofsted and included additional actions 
needed to address the 12 recommendations.

3.2 The Care Leavers Action Plan was produced following a visit to Shropshire from 
Mark Riddell, a Department for Education national advisor for care leavers in 
February 2018. This action plan covered all recommendations made by Mark, and 
also included some of the same recommendations made by Ofsted through the 
single inspection framework inspection.  This action plan has remained under the 
scrutiny of the Corporate Parenting Panel to ensure progress in relation to all areas.     



4.0 Progress to Date

4.1 The service continues to address the actions in both action plans. The two attached 
action plans chart progress against individual actions. Since we wrote these action 
plans we have been subject to a joint targeted area inspection involving Ofsted, 
Care Quality Commission, HMI Constabulary and HMI Probation in November 2018. 
Mark Riddell also carried out a return visit to Shropshire in November 2018.

4.2 The joint targeted area inspection evaluated progress against previous Ofsted 
recommendations and reported good progress in all areas. Any outstanding areas 
related in the whole to the service’s five practice priorities:

 assessments
 plans
 visits
 review meetings and 
 management oversight

These priorities are subject to on-going scrutiny through our robust quality 
assurance framework.

4.3 Mark Riddell also evaluated progress against his own recommendations. He 
reported that we had addressed all of them, and commented on the rapid progress 
we had made in all areas. Mark provided us with a new recommendation relating to 
the health offer, which is being considered by the Health and Well-Being Board and 
is being monitored by Corporate Parenting Panel.  Mark Riddell will be returning to 
Shropshire later this year to review progress in this area. 

4.4 As is evident from the attached action plans the majority of actions are now fully 
complete and fully operational.  A small number of the actions remain on-going. 
Although work is continuing in some areas we are of the view that these few actions 
do not need to be part of an on-going action plan and can be managed through 
business-as-usual, with overview and scrutiny by our robust quality assurance 
framework and where appropriate by presentation at Corporate Parenting Panel for 
on-going oversight. 

4.5 Inspectors through the joint targeted area inspection reported that our Quality 
Assurance framework is effective.  We will continue to ensure that we maintain 
progress made to date on actions contained within the action plans, making 
improvements where necessary.



List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not 
include items containing exempt or confidential information)

 Shropshire Council Children’s Services Post-Ofsted Action Plan
 Shropshire Council Children’s Services Care Leaver Action Plan

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People

Local Member
All 

Appendices

 Shropshire Council Children’s Services Post-Ofsted Action Plan
 Shropshire Council Children’s Services Care Leaver Action Plan





1 | P a g e

SHROPSHIRE CHILDREN’S SERVICES
POST OFSTED ACTION PLAN  

Our journey of continuous improvement

‘All children and young people to be happy, healthy, and safe and reach their full potential, 
supported by their families, friends and the wider community’

Jan 2019 V13



2 | P a g e

Introduction

“Social workers in Shropshire are working hard to keep children safe. They work with other staff in health, education and the police services to make sure that 
children are listened to and, where children have concerns or are not being looked after properly, they try to make children’s lives better.” (Ofsted, November 2017)

“The recent inspection of Shropshire Children’s Services has recognized that services to children and their families are overall ‘Good’. We were pleased that 
the inspection recognized our improvement journey.  But we are not complacent.  The aim of this Post-Ofsted action plan is to further improve services and 
outcomes for children, young people and their families. In doing so, the action plan will address the findings made by Ofsted, clearly indicating how we will 
implement the 12 recommendations given following the Single Inspection Framework (SIF) in September 2017. 

Alongside this plan, we have a clear vision for work with children and families, which is underpinned by our 5 Practice Priorities. In our drive towards excellent 
services, we follow a cycle of improvement, continuously reviewing and testing our practice and oversight to ensure that we are making progress and creating 
actions to address our priority areas.”  Karen Bradshaw, Director of Children’s Services

““Ofsted determined in its Report last November that services to safeguard children in Shropshire are good.  That was a considerable achievement putting 
Shropshire in the top 30% of Local Authorities in England.  But more needs to be done to address those service areas where improvements are needed so that 
standards continue to rise. We cannot afford to be complacent.  This Action Plan shows where we want to go and how we plan to get there.” Councillor Nick 
Bardsley, Lead Member for Children’s Services

Governance and Accountability

Together with my senior management team we will take responsibility for the delivery of our plan. We will monitor improvements in performance and 
practice, measuring progress of our plan quarterly at our DCS Quality and Performance Meetings with Service Managers and through quarterly Performance 
and Quality Meetings with Team Managers. The People Scrutiny Committee will lead on the challenge of the delivery of our plan, scrutinising progress of the 
plan by way of a quarterly update. The strategies and plans that sit underneath this are monitored at appropriate Boards or other governance structures.  
Karen Bradshaw, Director of Children’s Services  



3 | P a g e

Our Vision, Priorities and Principles

Our vision: ‘All children and young people to be happy, healthy, and safe and reach their full potential, supported 
by their families, friends and the wider community’

Our 5 Priorities
What is important and what success will look like

 Plans and Planning
 Every child will have an up to date plan
 Plans will be under pinned by an assessment and will be outcome focused
 Children, young people and families will be clear about what is expected of them
 Clear contingency plans are in place
 Plans will be at the heart of our work with children and their families

 Management Oversight
 Managers will ensure evidence of regular management oversight and reflective supervision on all 

case files
 Workers will be supported and have access to good quality reflective support
 Workers will be able to access management support when needed
 Key decisions taken outside supervision will be recorded on the case file

 Assessments
 Social work assessments will be child focused and informed by the views of the child
 Assessments will contain robust analysis of risks and protective factors which inform plans for each 

child

 Core Groups
 Core Groups will take place regularly and will review and progress plans for children
 Each core group will review the child’s plans and will agree actions to be undertaken by parents 

and the core group
 Where insufficient progress has been made, this will be recognized and appropriate action agreed 

and taken
 Core Groups will use effective step down processes
 Minutes will be sent out to all professionals and parents following each core group meeting

 Visits
 Visits will be timely, purposeful and include work which creates change for families
 Children will be seen alone
 Children’s wishes and feelings will be clearly recorded.

Shropshire Council Mission 

To be an excellent organization working in 
partnership to protect the vulnerable, create 

economic growth and support communities to be 
resilient.

Senior Management Priorities: 

 Reduce Caseloads
 Ensure all workers are supported and there 

is robust management oversight on all cases. 
 Ensure that we are only working with and 

looking after those children that we need to.  
 Provide workers with the right tools to do the 

job – IT system, processes and systems and 
training.

Safeguarding Board Priorities: 

 Domestic Abuse 
 CSE and Missing
 Neglect



4 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 1:  
Ensure that a clear system is established to enhance management oversight of initial contacts, so as to avoid any delays and to 
monitor timeliness and effectiveness.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection: 

 Thresholds are well established and applied consistently, resulting in proportionate action to protect children. An effective and mostly timely 
response is provided when concerns for children are raised with the Compass service, which is where all enquiries are received about concerns for 
the welfare or protection of children and young people.

 Consent to share information is understood well and appropriately sought in the majority of cases seen by inspectors. 
 In a small number of cases, some delays occur when parental consent and/or more information is needed for lower-level concerns but has not been 

sought already by the referrer. The impact of this for children is that there is sometimes a delay in progressing a contact and in determining the 
threshold for a referral. 

 Inspectors saw evidence of appropriate management oversight and decision-making within the Compass team. 
 However, a clearer, more structured system would ensure tighter monitoring of any future delays for children and their families. 

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

1.1 Guidance to be written and 
implemented for RAG/Traffic light 
system of initial decisions on 
contacts, which includes a 3 and 5 
day review.

Reduction of contacts taking more 
than 5 days.  
This will result in timely decisions 
being made on concern forms 
where consent or further 
information is required from the 
family or referrer.  

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
08/01/2018

Piloted in December 
2017, Live on 
08/01/2018

GREEN Improved 
timeliness of 
concerns forms 
progressing to 
final decision 
where parental 
consent is not 
provided by the 
referrer.  
Further advise 
provided by 
Ofsted through 
JTAI in 
November 2018 
which has been 
implemented.  
ACTION 
CONCLUDED

1.2 Weekly audit of contacts by the Consistency of practice in relation Audit Jeanette Hill Compass Service GREEN Weekly audits 



5 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

service manager and review of 
Performance Information to monitor 
compliance with protocol and impact 
on timescales.   
Outcome of audits to feed into Quality 
Assurance Feedback for oversight and 
scrutiny.

to contacts within the service and 
no delay found in progressing 
contacts and determining 
threshold for referral. 

Performance 
Information

To commence 
from 
08/01/18

Manager weekly 
audits are already 
embedded within the 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.

are showing an 
improving 
picture in 
regard to 
timeliness of 
completion of 
concerns forms 
– aim is for all 
concerns form 
to close down 
within 5 
working days 
including those 
where parental 
contact/consent 
is needed but 
not provided by 
the referrer. 
New pathways 
in COMPASS are 
supporting this 
action which 
will continue to 
be monitored 
by Service 
Manager. 
ACTION 
CONCLUDED.

RECOMMENDATION 2: 
Ensure that all children have information added to their electronic records regardless of the level of concern, particularly for 
domestic abuse level one notifications, and that records completed by the emergency duty team are immediate.



6 | P a g e

Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Domestic abuse notifications are received and considered daily by the multi-agency domestic abuse triage meeting in the Compass service, consistently 

attended by a wide range of key partners.
 Recent changes to commissioning arrangements for health colleagues are designed to enable them to attend on a regular basis from November 2017, 

giving a more robust contribution to the decision-making to protect children.
 However, there is no recording on children’s files of lower-level concerns, where the child is not known to the local authority. This affects the local 

authority’s ability to provide a comprehensive chronology from the earliest concern and to inform future decision-making.
 The emergency duty team provides an effective out of office hours response, but children’s records are not always immediately updated. This means 

that up-to-date information is not available for staff if they need to make urgent decisions.
Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact Measure Lead and

Timescale
Progress to date Progress 

RAG 
Impac
t RAG 

2.1 All domestic abuse Level 1 incidents to 
be recorded as an observation on 
children's files and duplicated across 
siblings. 

 Strengthened decision making for 
individual children and 
incorporation of history in all 
children's assessments. 

Audit Jeanette Hill 
01/02/2018

All domestic abuse 
level 1 incidents are 
now recorded on 
carefirst as an 
observation and 
coordinators will 
include this 
information within 
the child’s 
chronology at the 
front door. 
This action has now 
been in place since 
February 2018.
ACTION CONCLUDED

GREEN

2.2 Workflow to be developed in Liquid 
Logic, which allows all notifications to 
be recorded. 

Comprehensive chronologies on 
children’s files identifying all 
incidents where children have 
experienced domestic abuse.

Audit Jeanette Hill 
05/11/2018

We are currently 
recording all Level 1’s 
as an observation as 
an interim measure 
until we move across 
to Liquid Logic.  
Pathways for 
recording in place for 

GREEN



7 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact Measure Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

Liquid Logic which 
will come into place 
on 18/2/19.
ACTION CONCLUDED

2.3 All case file records to be updated by the 
emergency duty team on children's case 
files before the completion of the shift. 

Case recording which is up-to-date 
and enables workers to make 
urgent decisions based on current 
information. 

Audit Fiona 
Adamson/Tracy 
Dufton
01/11/2017

6 weekly meetings 
between Children’s 
Service Managers, 
EDT’s new service 
manager Tracey 
Dufton & Fiona 
Adamson. 
Expectation’s re 
completing case 
notes prior to end of 
shift remains & case 
file monitoring, 
monthly, is ongoing. 
Case file monitoring 
sent to Siobhan 
Hughes’ PA. EDT 
Training on Liquid 
Logic scheduled in 
January 2019.  On-
going monitoring will 
continue through 6 
weekly meetings 
across the service 
with EDT.
ACTION COMPLETE 

Green



8 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 3: 

Ensure that all brother and sister groups have a case record as a result of a contact received in the Compass service.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Thresholds are well established and applied consistently, resulting in proportionate action to protect children.
 An effective and mostly timely response is provided when concerns for children are raised with the Compass service, which is where all enquiries are 

received about concerns for the welfare or protection of children and young people. 
 While case recording was up to date, only information for the eldest child in a sibling group is recorded on concerns forms, so information about any 

younger brothers and sisters is not separately recorded or available for future reference on the electronic system.
Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

3.1 New concerns forms raised on cases 
which are not open, to be duplicated 
onto each child, and completed in 
Compass when authorising 

All concerns forms available on 
relevant children for future 
reference, enabling appropriate 
decision making, assessment and 
action. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill
01/03/2018

New arrangements 
commenced on 
01/03/2018.
New arrangements in 
place since 
01/03/2018 and are 
now embedded.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN All recording 
is now 
available on 
each child’s 
case record.

3.2 Concerns forms raised on open cases 
to be added by Compass who will 
duplicate the concerns forms and 
then assign to the relevant team for 
authorisation

All concerns forms available on 
relevant children for future 
reference, enabling appropriate 
decision making, assessment and 
action. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette 
Hill/Steve 
Ladd/Elaine 
Storey
01/03/2018

New arrangements 
commenced on 
01/03/2018.
New arrangements in 
place since 
01/03/2018 and are 
now embedded.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN All recording 
is now 
available on 
each child’s 
case record.



9 | P a g e

Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

3.3 On all new or closed cases Compass 
Coordinator role to add all household 
relationships and Compass staff 
(SSW, EHSW, TYS, CSE lead) will 
complete and duplicate including EH 
consultations as appropriate

Connections between family 
members clearly visible and 
included in decision making for 
families. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
01/03/2018

New arrangements 
commenced on 
01/03/2018.
New arrangements in 
place since 
01/03/2018 and are 
now embedded.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN All recording 
is now 
available on 
each child’s 
case record.

3.4 Ensuring all relevant Shropshire 
Council  procedures are updated to 
capture changes in operational 
practice

All workers will have a clear 
understanding of the processes, 
with clarity on role responsibilities.

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes
01/06/2018

All procedures now up 
to date.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN All 
practitioners 
have access 
to up to 
date 
procedures.

RECOMMENDATION 4: 
Ensure that assessments for children looked after and their families are comprehensive and analytical, to effectively inform timely 
care plans and decision-making.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Children become looked after when they need to be, in a planned and mostly timely way, and in response to escalating risks. 
 Most assessments help to inform correct decision-making. 
 A small number of assessments do not always contain enough detail so that plans for children to be looked after are sufficiently purposeful and clear 

enough, particularly for young babies.  
 Most assessments (LAC), while undertaken regularly for reviews, are not sufficiently detailed in terms of considering all relevant information, critical 

evaluation and analysis, although a small number of excellent children’s assessments were seen by inspectors. 
 Management oversight does not systematically influence and improve the quality of assessments or care plans.
Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 



10 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

4.1 Looked After Child Assessment 
workshops to be delivered, 
consolidating learning from Martin 
Calder training in the context of LAC.  
To be attended by all social workers.

Analytical assessments which 
appropriately assess the needs of 
the individual looked after children 
and identify need. 

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/05/2018

Two training days 
have now been 
undertaken with a mix 
of IRO’s, Looked After 
children social 
workers and case 
management social 
workers.  Feedback 
has been excellent.  
There will be a further 
training days 
scheduled for early 
2019, following on 
from this, the training 
will be offered in-
house.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

4.2 Action learning set to take place with 
team managers focusing on the Quality 
Assurance of assessments.

Quality Assurance activity 
undertaken by managers to be 
evident on the case file and clearly 
improving the quality of 
assessments. 

Audit Donna 
Chapman / 

Siobhan Hughes
01/05/2018

Dates are set and 
invites have been sent 
to all TM’s. The first 
Action Learning Set 
took take place on  
5/03/18.
Action Learning sets 
now embedded.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

4.3 New assessment template for looked 
after children to be developed as part 
of Liquid Logic Implementation in 
consultation with social workers and 
team managers. 

A LAC assessment template which 
enables robust assessment and 
analysis.

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes 
04/11/2018

Completed – Lisa 
Preston – to be 
embedded in Liquid 
Logic.
Testing complete.  
Template will go live 
with new Liquid Logic 
System on 18th 

GREEN



11 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

February 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE

4.4 All workers and managers to have 
access to Research in Practice to link 
theory and research to practice. 

LAC assessments will contain more 
evidence of relevant research and 
theory.

Audit Donna 
Chapman 
01/07/2018

RIP is now available to 
all staff.  We are 
currently monitoring 
sign up to this, usage, 
and evidence of 
improved research in 
our practice. 
We initially had  84 
users of RIP.   To date 
we have 198 active 
users – which 
continues to show an 
increase in usage 
across the service.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

4.5 Dispute Resolution process to be 
revised to ensure that assessments for 
looked after children are 
comprehensive, timely and inform care 
plans and decisions for looked after 
children. 

The scrutiny of assessments by the 
IROs will be evident on case files and 
improvements will be seen in critical 
evaluation and analysis contained in 
future assessments. 

Audit
Performance 
Information

Siobhan 
Hughes/Lisa 
Kelly
01/05/2018

Completed and IRO’s 
are aware this should 
be completed in 
respect of QA of each 
child’s review/ 
conference. There is a 
section on the RAG for 
comment re this.  
Dispute Resolution 
Process will continue 
to be managed as part 
of our on-going 
quality assurance 
framework.

GREEN



12 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

ACTION COMPLETE

4.6 Child Journey Audit Tool to be amended 
to ensure that it reflects expectations in 
relation to assessment and planning for 
looked after children. 

The ability to review progress in this 
area and to ensure that we are 
providing social workers and Team 
managers with the right 
tools/knowledge to undertake 
robust assessments in respect of 
looked after children. 

Audit 
Review

Siobhan 
Hughes
01/04/2018

Went live from the 
01/04/2018 and is 
now embedded.

ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

4.7 Increase in case file audits rating 
assessment of Looked After Children as 
good or outstanding to increase from 
40% to 70%.

Comprehensive and analytical 
assessments of looked after children 
will drive timely and effective care 
plans and decision – making.  

Audit
Review

Steve Ladd/ 
Elaine 
Storey/Siobhan 
Hughes
01/12/18

Currently not meeting 
target (70%)  Tools 
have been amended 
to ensure that it is 
easier to identify LAC 
assessments and 
enable better 
feedback for workers. 
LAC assessment 
training has also taken 
place which should 
have a positive impact 
on Q3.
Although this action 
has not been achieved 
this will continue to 
be monitored and 
aspired to through our 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE 
for purposes of this 
Action Plan but will be 

AMBER



13 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impac
t RAG 

an action within the 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.    

RECOMMENDATION 5:   
Ensure that all plans, including children in need plans, child protection plans, care plans and pathway plans, have clear overall 
objectives and timely specific actions.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 In most cases, assessments lead to child-specific care plans. Children who are subject to child in need or child protection plans have their plans 
reviewed regularly. A robust and clear protocol for consideration of risks and concerns, or ‘step up’ or ‘step down’ arrangements, ensures that 
consideration is given at each review so that children are safe and receive the most appropriate intervention. 

 A small number of plans are too long. They contain generic or unrealistic actions with unclear timescales. The use of the terms ‘ongoing’ and ‘to be 
reviewed at core group’ does not assist families or professionals to understand the timescales in which change must occur for the child.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

5.1 Outcome focused planning workshop 
to take place with all IROs and CP 
Chairs, Team Managers, Social 
Workers, PA’s and Virtual School – 
delivered by Research In Practice 

 Outcome focused LAC 
plans to be created by 
social workers and given 
additional quality 
assurance by IROs. 

 Concise and SMART CP 
plans initiated by CP Chairs. 

 SMART PEPS’s to be in 
place for every school aged 
Looked after Child.

 All children to have an up 
to date plan which is 
progressing in line with 
their needs, with clear 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Donna 
Chapman 
01/04/2018

Outcome Focused 
Plans Workshops 
were delivered by 
Martin Calder linked 
to the SRAF on the 
12/04/2018, 
13/04/2018, 
02/05/2018, 
03/04/2018, 
04/04/2018, 
10/04/2018.

New Liquid Logic Plan 
template will 
promote outcome 
focused planning.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN



14 | P a g e

timescales  and which is 
outcome focused. 

5.2 The virtual school will be part of 
induction training for all social workers 
with a focus on quality of PEPS’s.

 The Virtual Head will 
feedback data on PEP 
quality, to include number 
of social workers using 
PEP’s, PEP’s within 
timescales, student 
participation and SMART 
targets.

RAG rating of PEPS for statutory 
school age children, Spring 2018 

Spring 
2018 

Summer 
2018 

Outstanding 3% 4%
Good 61% 36%
Requires 
improvement 

29% 53%

Inadequate 7% 7%

No PEPs are held for rising 2, 3-year 
of age 
No PEPs are held for years 12 & 13 
(age 16- 18 )

Audit Social 
work ePEP data 
27/06/18. 
7 social workers 
holding 10 
cases have 
never logged 
onto ePEP 
3 social workers 
holding 17 
cases have not 
logged on since 
last year 2017 
3 social workers 
holding 11 
cases have not 
logged on since 
the spring term
Approximately 
12% of cases 

Rose Hooper 
01/02/2018

Virtual school is part 
of the induction 
programme.
QA on PEPS has been 
in place for over a 
year and is done 
termly.
Student participation 
to be reported termly 
starting in spring 18.   
The young person’s 
participation is part of 
the QA and social 
worker participation 
to be reported termly 
starting in Spring 18.
Number of inductees 
to date – 4

ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

5.3 Develop practice guidance on how to 
write a SMART outcome focused plan 
including Do's, Don'ts, hints and tips. 

Social workers will have an easily 
accessible guide to writing an 
outcome focused plan, improving 
the quality of outcome focused 
plans.

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Pippa 
Murphy 
01/04/2018

Been sent to all team 
managers and 
discussed at end to 
end.

ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN



15 | P a g e

Virtual school shared SMART target 
model with Pippa.

5.4 Revise plan templates as part of the 
Liquid Logic and consult children, 
young people and their families in this. 

All children's plans will be written 
in an outcome focused style, which 
families are able to understand. 

Review Siobhan 
Hughes/Lisa Kelly 
01/11/2018

Plans templates 
revised in Liquid 
Logic.  Guidance 
provided to staff on 
how to complete 
plans that are SMART, 
outcome focused with 
clearly determined 
timescales.
We are in the process 
of strengthening 
forums to consult 
with parents and 
young people through 
Service User Impact 
Group.
On-going work to be 
undertaken as part of 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN

5.5 Importance of data recording 
workshops to be held with 
practitioners by legal services. 

All workers will understand the 
importance of recording on 
children's files and recording will 
improve. 

Audit Donna Chapman 
01/07/2018

Workshop has taken 
place – September 
2018.  Staff aware of 
expectations around 
way we share 
information in court.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

5.6 Principal Social Worker to undertake 
Pathway Plans with ASYEs, creating 
good examples of Pathway Plans. 

Workers will understand 
expectations for good quality 
Pathway Plans and ASYEs will 
develop skills to consistently create 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/10/2018

Pathway Plans have 
been identified for 
the Principal Social 
Worker to work 

GREEN



16 | P a g e

good pathway plans. alongside ASYE’s. 
Mick McCarthy is also 
delivering Pathway 
plan training in 
Oct/Nov/Feb.
Improvements in 
timeliness and quality 
of Pathway Plan’s 
evidenced through 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

5.7 Pathway Planning workshop to take 
place with all relevant teams

Workers will have the skills to 
create high quality pathway plans 
and improvement shown in 
auditing. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Elaine 
Storey 
01/05/2018

Pathway Plan 
workshops have 
taken place. One last 
mop up workshop to 
take place in February 
2019.  Improvements 
in Pathway Planning 
evident through 
Quality Assurance 
Framework
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN

5.8 Bi-annual themed audit of 25 plans to 
take place across children's services as 
part of the Quality Assurance 
Framework to ensure that they are 
SMART and outcome focused. 

Understanding of the quality of 
children's plans across children's 
services and individual feedback 
and support created for workers. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
30/07/2018

Audit was completed 
in July 2018.  Further 
audit took place in 
December 2018.  The 
finding of this audit 
will be shared with 
Managers in January 
2019.  This activity 
will form part of 

GREEN



17 | P a g e

normal Quality 
Assurance Framework 
activity. 
ACTION COMPLETE 

5.9 Increase in case file audits rating 
quality of plans as good or outstanding 
to increase from 44% to 70%.

Outcome focused plans with 
timely, specific actions. 

Audit
Review

Steve Ladd/ 
Elaine 
Storey/Siobhan 
Hughes
01/12/18

This is currently at 
57% . Whilst we have 
not yet achieved 70%, 
we are confident that 
recent training and 
guidance and the 
introduction of a new 
plan template in 
Liquid Logic will 
improve the quality of 
plans.
Monitoring of this will 
continue through our 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE
  

GREEN

RECOMMENDATION 6:  
Ensure that effective management oversight and case supervision influence and ensure the achievement of children's plans.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 Management oversight is clearly evident through regular and effective formal supervision.
 Most supervision records contain reflection on practice, with clear actions for social workers to progress. 
 However, the quality of these records in some of the case management teams is not as clear in terms of monitoring children’s plans and progressing to 

achieve outcomes effectively.
 Management oversight does not systematically influence and improve the quality of assessments or care plans. This results in delays to achieve actions 

that would improve outcomes for children.
Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 

Measure
Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 



18 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

6.1 Monthly supervision folder audits to 
take place as part of the Quality 
Assurance Framework

Quality of supervision recorded to 
improve, shown by quarterly QAF 
reporting. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes
01/02/2018 

This action forms part 
of current Quality 
Assurance activity.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.2 Implement the revised supervision 
policy, including observations of 
supervision.

Quality of supervision recorded 
and observed to improve, shown 
by quarterly QAF reporting. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes
01/04/2018

This action now forms 
part of our Quality 
Assurance Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.3 LAC planning checklist to be utilised as 
a tool for workers and managers in 
supervision. 

Thorough LAC planning and 
completion of actions to take place 
for every LAC child and young 
person in a timely way.

Audit Lisa Kelly/Pippa 
Murphy 
30/03/2018

All social workers are 
aware of the tool; this 
has been circulated 
individually to SW and 
within the weekly brief 
to all SW in Children 
services. There is 
evidence from reducing 
number of red rags that 
this checklist is being 
utilised and will 
continue to be 
reinforced through 
Dispute Resolution 
Process
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.4 Managers to undertake regular 
practice observations as part of the 
Quality Assurance Framework. 

Manager have an accurate picture 
of practice and supporting the 
development of this is evident in 
supervision. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/03/2018

Now agreed that there 
will be one practice 
observation in line with 
Appraisal and the 
Service User IMPACT 
observations. These are 
taking place and being 

GREEN



19 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

collated on a quarterly 
basis. This action now 
forms part of Quality 
Assurance Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

6.5 Decision making and supervision action 
learning sets to take place for team 
managers. 

A consistent approach to decision-
making and supervision across 
teams shown by the QAF auditing 
schedule. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/04/2018

Action learning sets 
have taken place and 
are continuing on a 
monthly basis at the 
request of Team 
Managers.  
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.6 Team Managers to ensure that copies 
of children's plans are discussed in 
supervision. 

Plans for children clearly 
monitored and progressed by 
managers, shown by supervision 
recordings. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Steve 
Ladd/Elaine 
Storey 
01/04/2018 

Team Managers have 
been made aware of 
the importance of this 
action again in 
performance meeting 
on 30/04/18.
Children’s Plan are the 
starting point of 
supervision discussion, 
recording is now 
showing an increase in 
this taking place.
This action will 
continue to reinforced 
through Quality 
Assurance Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.7 Core Group guidance and frequency to 
be revised, to reduce number of core 
groups taking place and increase 
quality. 

Managers having more opportunity 
for oversight of core groups and 
review of plans with reduced 
numbers. 

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Siobhan 
Hughes/Colleen 
Male 
26/02/2018

Implemented on the 
26/02/2018 and a 
briefing has been 
shared with workers, 
managers and partner 

GREEN



20 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

agencies.  This is now 
embedded in practice.
ACTION COMPLETE

6.8 Reflective practice cards to be utilised 
through supervision to support 
workers to carry out planned and 
purposeful work. 

Clear reflection recorded in 
supervision. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
30/03/2018
 

Reflective practice 
cards have been given 
to all practitioners.  A 
workshop has taken 
place with managers. 
Staff report positively 
that they receive 
reflective supervision, 
however this is not 
always clearly 
recorded/evident on 
case files.  This 
continues to be a 
practice priority and 
will be continued to be 
monitored and 
addressed through 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

6.9 All team managers without a 
management qualification to be 
offered this through the apprenticeship 
levy. 

Team managers enrolled on a 
management training course which 
enables them to become skilled 
and effective managers, who have 
a clear impact on practice. 

Review Donna 
Chapman
01/12/2017

Cohort of managers 
commenced training in 
September 2018.  
Training is on-going.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

RECOMMENDATION 7:   
Ensure that arrangements for permanence planning are robust and that permanence plans progress within the child's timescale, to 
avoid children experiencing delays.



21 | P a g e

Summary from Ofsted Inspection:
 The local authority recognises that more needs to be done so that children who are long-term fostered have their care confirmed by formal decision 

making about permanence, and so that any uncertainty that they may experience while waiting for a decision is minimised. 
 In a small number of cases, there was some drift and delay for children waiting to be found long term carers, and a greater focus on purposeful and 

targeted family finding is required.
 Services for children who need permanence, but for whom adoption is not appropriate, are not yet consistent enough.
  The service is developing a permanence tracker. This includes all children who have a permanence plan, with the aim of strengthening senior and 

team management oversight and the grip on permanence activity other than adoption
 Independent reviewing officers (IROs) regularly review care plans, and more robust and recent scrutiny is beginning to improve practice, particularly 

for permanence. 
 The independent reviewing service has recently established a red, amber and green (RAG) rating escalation process to introduce more robust 

scrutiny and to address less effective care planning. In most cases where concerns are escalated, this results in a positive impact for children. This 
escalation process is beginning to improve practice, particularly in relation to permanence planning for children who do not have an adoption care 
plan.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

7.1 Permanence policy to be refreshed Permanency Policy will enable 
social workers and managers to 
understand the principles of 
permanency planning and how 
these apply to individual cases and 
all permanency planning will be 
timely. 

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/03/2018

Permanency Policy has 
been updated and has 
been shared across the 
service.   It is available 
on the intranet.  
Permanency Audit in 
October 2018 
confirmed adherence 
to policy.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

7.2 All Looked After Children to have a 
Permanency Plan following their 2nd 
Statutory Review

All Looked After Children to have a 
Permanency Plan following their 
2nd Statutory Review

Audit Lisa Kelly/ 
Siobhan Hughes
02/03/2018

All children are 
recorded as having a 
permanency plan at 
their 2nd review. 
However these will be 

GREEN



22 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

dip-sampled on a 
quarterly basis to 
ensure that they robust 
and good quality. This 
will also help us to 
measure improvements 
in permanency 
planning.
The last dip Sample 
took place in 
September 2018 and 
only a small minority of 
cases did not have a 
clear permanency plan.
This action will form 
part of our Quality 
Assurance Framework.
ACTION  COMPLETE

7.3 All children moving into long term 
fostering to be formally matched with 
their long term foster carer.

All children moving into long term 
fostering will be in a placement 
suitable to their needs

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018

Children and young 
people are being 
presented to fostering 
panel to formally 
approve their long-
term match with their 
carers.  Cases are being 
tracked by the 
permanency co-
ordinator through the 

GREEN



23 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

permanency tracker 
and social workers are 
being progress chased 
where a long-term 
fostering match has 
been agreed to take 
place.
New Permanency Co-
ordinator continues to 
monitor and oversight 
of this activity.
ACTION COMPLETE

7.4 Permanence Strategy to be embedded. A clear vision and strategic 
approach across children's services 
to improve approach to 
permanency. 

Review Lisa Preston 
01/03/2018

Permanency Strategy 
has been finalised and 
has been launched 
across the service.  
Permanency Audit 
undertaken in October 
2018 highlighted that 
permanency strategy is 
becoming embedded.  
This will continue to be 
driven by Permanency 
Coordinator going 
forward.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

7.5 Implementation of the permanency 
tracker. 

Ensure that there is management 
oversight of all cases where 

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/02/2018

Completed and is use.  
Permanency Tracker 

GREEN



24 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

permanency outside the birth 
family is required and to track and 
monitor the progression of the 
permanence plans, preventing 
delay. 

meetings established.
ACTION COMPLETE

7.6 Permanence Forum to go live Clear evidence that plans for 
permanency are expedited post 
LAC review.

Audit Lisa Preston 
15/01/2018

Permanence Forum is 
now in operation, social 
workers are able to 
book onto the forum 
for consideration of a 
permanency plan.  The 
permanency 
coordinator is also 
using the tracker to 
progress chase social 
workers where there is 
a need to consider 
permanency options.

ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

7.7 Lunchtime briefings ‘matching to long 
term fostering’ on CPR's and 
embedding the permanence agenda in 
the implementation of children's care 
plans. 

All relevant staff to have an 
understanding of the fundamentals 
of Permanency and able to create 
good quality CPRs.

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

Briefings have taken 
place, the permanence 
coordinator is now the 
lead for embedding this 
on a continuous basis.  
Permanency Action 
Plan is in place to 
address learning from 

GREEN



25 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and 
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

permanency audit.

ACTION COMPLETE

7.8 Review of the structure of CPS.  A clear focus on the permanency 
agenda and transference of good 
practice from adoption to long 
term fostering.

Audit Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

New structure 
commenced on the 1st 
September 2018.  
Vacant posts have now 
all been filled bar one 
which is out to advert 
again.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

7.9 Plans for permanence to be included in 
the Quality Assurance Framework 
auditing schedule. 

Understanding of the quality of 
children's plans for permanence 
and actions developed to 
continuously improve these. . 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
/ Lisa Preston 
01/04/2018

A separate child 
journey auditing tool 
has been created for 
LAC, with clearer 
evaluation questions 
for permanence. 
This is now embedded 
in Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

RECOMMENDATION 8: 
Ensure that children who are looked after have assessed contact agreements with their families that are sufficiently detailed and 
ensure that contact supervisors are specifically trained in supervision.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 While family contact for children is promoted and most children see their families, assessments do not evidence careful enough consideration of 
children’s contact needs.



26 | P a g e

 Most contact agreements seen by inspectors did not sufficiently set out the details of practical arrangements, the focus for the contact or its 
outcomes. 

 Contact supervisors are not specifically trained in supervision. 
 The local authority already had plans to review this service, but this had not happened by the time of the inspection.

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

8.1 Contact policy and procedures to be 
revised and embedded across 
children's services. 

Clear expectations and guidelines, 
which creates good practice in 
looked after children's contact.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/04/2018

Contact policy and 
procedures have been 
updated and shared 
within the 
management group 
and have been added 
to Trix.  Workshops 
with staff have taken 
place.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

8.2 Templates for contact including 
assessment contact agreement to be 
revised and embedded. 

Contact agreements that are 
sufficiently detailed to enable good 
practice in supervised contact.

Audit Elaine Storey
01/04/2018 

Contact agreement has 
been completed in line 
with policy and 
procedures, shared 
within the 
management group 
and social workers are 
using as contact is 
agreed.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

8.3 Contact agreement to be reviewed at 
second LAC review as part of 
permanence planning.

The levels of contact provided to 
each individual child will reflect the 
child’s needs and care plan at that 
time.

Audit Elaine 
Storey/Steve 
Ladd 
01/03/2018

Review of contact has 
taken place in long 
term placement 
arrangements. Review 
of contact 
arrangements are 
starting to be 
considered prior to the 
second review and the 
review before the final 

GREEN



27 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

care plan is lodged with 
the court. Thus 
enabling long term care 
planning.  
This action is now part 
of usual care planning 
arrangements.
ACTION COMPLETE

8.4 Children, young people and their 
families to be included in contact 
agreements and invited to initial and 
review meetings. 

Contact agreements, which include 
families and set out details of 
contact and expectations on all 
parties.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/04/2018

Parents and children 
are being invited to  
attend the reviews of 
their contact, where 
appropriate.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

8.5 Contact workers and all workers who 
regularly undertake contact to be 
trained in supervising and assessing 
contact. 

All workers undertaking contact to 
be able to carry out high quality 
contact and assessment and 
analysis of contact. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Elaine 
Storey 
01/06/2018

Training has taken 
place.
Audit of Contact 
scheduled for March 
2019 to ensure all 
actions relating to 
contact are 
consolidated.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

RECOMMENDATION 9: 
Improve children's engagement and participation and ensure that information shared and numbers of children participating in 
their child protection conferences are collated for future learning and service delivery.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 Child protection conferences are timely. They are sensitively and effectively chaired and well attended, and they facilitate effective information 
sharing and engagement by partner agencies. Conference chairs use a red, amber and green (RAG) rating of practice following case conferences. 
This provides additional management oversight and feedback to social workers, and leads to improvements in practice.

 Arrangements for children to participate in their child protection case conferences are weak. 
 Some children are supported to contribute to their plans, or to attend their meetings, and a commissioned advocacy service is available. However, 



28 | P a g e

the local authority does not capture specific data or information around children’s participation in case conferences to inform future service delivery 
or learning.

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

9.1 Children and young people's 
participation in case conferences to be 
monitored on a monthly basis and broken 
down by team and worker to identify any 
barriers. 

More children and young people to 
participate in their Child Protection 
Conferences and their views to be 
collated and incorporated in Service 
User Feedback Reports. 

Performance 
Information
Audit

Lisa Kelly 
01/03/2018

Systems in place to 
monitor and monthly 
reporting have 
commenced.  
Principal IRO reports 
on this monthly. 
Principal IRO has 
commenced 
individual meetings 
with TM’s to provide 
individual feedback. 
The service user 
impact group, along 
with the IT dept. are 
developing an app to 
support young 
people to provide 
their views for their 
conference. This will 
be piloted by CMT 
North and 
Conference Chairs. 
Significant progress 
made in this area as 
noted within JTAI 
letter.
To form part of on-

GREEN



29 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

going Quality 
Assurance Activity.
ACTION COMPLETE

9.2 The Service User impact project to ensure 
the prioritisation of young people's 
participation and consultation. 

Greater focus by all services on 
service user participation, ensuring 
that children's voices are collated 
and heard and utilised to improve 
service delivery and practice 
improvement. 

Performance 
Information
Review

Fran Doyle 
01/07/2018

Two Service User 
Impact weeks 
undertaken across 
Children’s Services.  
These now form part 
of usual Quality 
Assurance 
Framework activity.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN

9.3 Child Protection Conference style to be 
reviewed and revised to embed 
relationship based practice. 

A conference style which will 
encourage children and parent's 
engagement in child protection 
conferences. 

Performance 
Information
Review 
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa 
Kelly/Siobhan 
Hughes
01/06/2018

Visits have taken 
place to Brighton and 
Hove, which involved 
IC and minute takers, 
to discuss and 
observe relationship 
based practice in 
action, with a view to 
embedding this 
within the 
conference model 
within Shropshire. 
Timeline in respect of 
plans to implement 
the model in place.
Plans are being 
piloted and approved 
at SSCB with a view 

GREEN



30 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

to go live in April 
2019.
ACTION COMPLETE 

9.4 Hold conferences in schools (more 
community based venues that are child 
friendly)

Increased participation in case 
conferences by young people.

Performance 
Information
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

Systems in place to 
monitor this and 
record reasons not 
held in school venue. 
However, a 
conference not being 
held in a school 
venue does not 
exclude the child 
from attending their 
conference and 
arrangements are 
made to support 
them to do so.  We 
are able to evidence 
more children 
participating in their 
meetings.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

9.5 Review all tools for gathering the views of 
service users prior to child protection 
conferences and utilisation of these to be 
reported at a team level. 

Increased understanding of service 
users views for conferences. 

Performance 
Information
Review 
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

All tools have been 
reviewed and their 
use and finding are 
being reported on a 
quarterly basis, to 
senior managers and 
sscb QA subgroup. 
 This feedback is 
completed with 
parents at the end of 
a CP plan, and work 
is taking place to 

GREEN



31 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

collate and ensure 
Children’s views are 
collated and 
reported to 
conference- 
reporting on this 
takes place monthly 
and is shared with all 
levels of Children’s 
services.  This all 
forms part of our 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

9.6 Discussions between chair and social 
worker ahead of the meeting to 
determine the level of the child or young 
person's participation in the conference 
to be recorded on the case files. 

Increased participation in case 
conferences of young people and 
demonstrable consideration of their 
needs in being heard on case files. 

Performance 
Information
Audit
Service User 
Feedback

Lisa Kelly/ 
Siobhan 
Hughes
01/03/2018

This has 
commenced, and is 
being embedded in 
practice. Chairs 
make contact with 
SW prior to each 
conference to 
establish the nature 
of and how best to 
support the 
participation of 
children and young 
people in their 
conference. Chairs 
will also now raise 
with TM’s if there 
are any obstacles to 
this being achieved. 
This has been 
included in 

GREEN



32 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

recommendations 
on the monthly 
reporting on 
Children’s 
participation in their 
conference. 
Minutes of 
conference have 
been amended to 
comment on child’s 
participation in their 
meeting and we are 
seeing the evidence 
of this within each 
child / young 
person’s minutes.  
ACTION COMPLETE

9.7 Explore potential for use of different 
multi-media to capture children's feelings 
in this process (discuss feedback of use 
on CDT)

Increased capturing of children and 
young people's views.

Performance 
Information
Service User 
Feedback

Fran Doyle 
01/04/2018

Use of an App – has 
been explored with 
internal IT manager 
– Andy Boxall, 
purpose to collect 
the views and 
feelings of children 
and young people, 
where this is there 
preferred method of 
communication.  
Demo being 
produced to 
understand 
capabilities and 
reporting.

GREEN



33 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

Use of multi media 
through film/video 
engaging 5 young 
people and Care 
Leavers - expressed 
their views and 
feelings and 
participation in their 
participation in child 
protection 
conferences.   And to 
improve care 
leavers’ experience 
of the pathway 
planning process.  

Added bonus of 
building confidence 
and skills.

Filming weekend 
took place 24th 
February 2018.
This work continues 
to be a strength for 
Shropshire.
ACTION COMPLETE 

9.8 Increased drive on advocacy 
services/inclusion to support children 
(send advocacy, leaflets out with 
minutes) (have conversations with child 
on advocacy). 

Increased numbers of young people 
utilising advocacy. 

Performance 
Information

Lisa Kelly 
01/04/2018

IRU Admin services 
send this 
information out with 
invites to conference 
(depending on age of 
child).

GREEN



34 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

Chairs will discuss 
with young people 
who attend 
conference meet 
with the chair 
advocacy services.
IRO’s will also 
discuss advocacy 
services  with YP
This will be recorded 
either in minutes or 
obs. There has been 
an increase in 
advocacy being used 
by the children and 
YP in or Care. Coram 
voice has completed 
attendance at CMT 
and LAC Teams 
meetings to discuss 
advocacy and the 
use. Use of advocacy 
continues to be high 
for LAC.
ACTION COMPLETE

9.9 Track the use of advocacy and ensure 
that reasons why young people do not 
want an advocate are recorded on the 
young person’s case file. 

Increased numbers of young people 
utilising advocacy and reasons why 
young people do not want advocacy 
clearly understood.  

Performance 
Information 
Audit 

Lisa 
Kelly/Siobhan 
Hughes 
01/03/2018

IRO’s and IC’s will 
record discussions 
with YP. 
The use of advocacy 
is reported on within 
Coram voice data.  

GREEN



35 | P a g e

Ref Action Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

Reports from Corum 
Voice shared with 
managers. We 
continue to promote 
Corum Voice and 
advocacy in CP 
Planning. 
ACTION COMPLETE 

RECOMMENDATION 10:   
Ensure that care leavers have the opportunity to access apprenticeships to increase their opportunities for education, employment 
and training.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 More care leavers are staying in education, employment or training immediately after they reach 18, but the proportion declines for older care 
leavers.

 The local authority has been slow to roll out an apprenticeship offer for care leavers, despite being a participant in the ‘New Beginnings’ initiative. At 
the time of the inspection, only one care leaver (now a graduate) was registered for an apprenticeship. The leaving care team has identified 14 care 
leavers who have the potential to be candidates for an apprenticeship. This is now being progressed at corporate parenting board level to ensure 
that the offer of apprenticeships is not subject to further drift.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

10.1 Establish a corporate commitment 
to providing Care Leavers with the 
opportunity to access 
apprenticeships across Shropshire 
Council.

 Suitable opportunities for Care 
Leavers across Shropshire 
Council. 

Review  Clive Wright
01/02/2018

Corporate 
commitment and 
support given to 
create 10 apprentices 
across the Council. 
Apprenticeships now 
in place.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

10.2 Establish a cross Directorate 
apprenticeship group, chaired by 

Increased numbers of LAC 
apprenticeships being offered 

Review Karen 
Bradshaw/Michelle 

This Task and Finish 
Group was 

GREEN



36 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

the DCS to agree a clear process 
for the identification across the 
council of LAC apprenticeships. 

to young people Leith
01/02/2018

established and is 
now concluded as 
apprenticeships were 
developed and 
recruited to.
ACTION COMPLETE

10.3 Representative of children's 
services to attend the monthly 
apprenticeship levy board 
meetings.

Increased opportunities for LAC 
young people to access 
apprenticeships. 

Review Donna Chapman 
01/02/2018

Complete – Donna 
Chapman Workforce 
Lead now attends 
this meeting. Tracie 
Watson Team 
manager, Leaving 
Care is part of this 
work,
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN Ensure 
Children’s 
Services ate 
utlising the 
Apprenticeship 
Levy.

10.4 Apprentice Care Leaver 
Ambassador to be established 
within the Leaving Care Team.

To ensure that the views of 
Care Leavers are represented 
and to increase participation in 
all areas of strategic work.

Position 
established.

01/05/2018 Appointment made in 
August 2018 and 
Ambassador is 
developing role.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

10.5 To explore opportunities for a pre-
employment course to be made 
available to care leavers before 
they commence on an 
apprenticeship and to explore 
support to be made available to 
care leavers during course of the 
apprenticeship

To ensure that care leavers are 
fully prepared and supported 
for and during their 
apprenticeship.

Support in 
place.
Feedback 
from care 
Leavers.

Tracie Watson
01/05/2017

An internal pre-
employment course 
has been delivered to 
all identified Care 
Leaver 
Apprenticeships.  We 
will be looking to 
develop this further 
in respect of next 
cohort of Care 
Leavers.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN



37 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 11:   
Improve the arrangements for preparing care leavers for independent living, ensuring that they have appropriate opportunities for 
participation and that they know what support they can expect under the Shropshire pledge.
Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

 The support provided to care leavers when they consider that they are ready to move into independent accommodation is not always effective 
enough to ensure that these moves are successful. The local authority has recognised the need to provide more advice and guidance to its care 
leavers, and recently opened a drop-in facility in early September 2017 in Shrewsbury. As this is so new, it is too early to see any impact or its 
effectiveness. Supported accommodation providers offer training whenever a young person is ready or expresses a wish to move on. In order to 
offer more support, a training flat to help to ensure that young people are as ready as they can be for full independence is being developed by the 
local authority, although it is not yet in place. 

 Care leavers do not have an active forum in which to celebrate their achievements or share their experiences with one another. They are aware of 
such opportunities for younger children in care, but do not consider these to be appropriate for them. 

 Despite the efforts by the local authority to circulate relevant information to them, care leavers met by inspectors had little awareness of their 
entitlements. The Shropshire local offer, or the ‘Pledge’, was approved by the corporate parenting panel in September 2017. However, the 
information provided to young people does not make clear the level of financial support that they can expect, for example to set up home, 
contribute to transport costs, use gym or sports facilities, or for related expenses if they are accepted for a place at university. 

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 



38 | P a g e

11.1 Develop Independence and life skills 
programme with all care providers 
that will deliver a consistent 
programme of independence for our 
care leavers.

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready.  

Audit
SU Feedback

Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

Meetings taken place 
on 23/1/18 and28/2/18 
with private providers, 
semi independent 
providers to ensure 
Shropshire young 
people are tenancy 
ready when moving 
into independent 
accommodation. 
Meetings have taken 
place with fostering 
training providers to 
ensure the 
independence 
programme for young 
people in foster care 
echoes that of the 
schemes used in 
children’s homes and 
with semi independent 
providers.   Training 
programme to be 
identified. 

AMBER

11.2 Training Flat to be available to all 
young people transitioning into 
Independence.  

Young people to be prepared for 
independence and to have the 
experience of living on their own 
within a supported environment. 

Audit
SU Feedback

Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Protocol for use of the 
Training Flat developed. 
Young people social 
workers coordinating 
plans to utilse as part  
of independence skills 
development.

GREEN



39 | P a g e

11.3 Create a marketplace for providers of 
temporary accommodation to buy 
into the independence programme to 
ensure that they tenancy ready. 

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and able to access 
accommodation.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

Housing meetings are 
planned with social care 
for this event to be 
developed and rolled 
out in February 2019.

AMBER

11.4 Recruit and induct new Care Leaving 
Ambassadors

Two Care Leaving Ambassadors to 
work alongside LA staff in improving 
services to Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers. 

Audit 
Service User 
Feedback

Fran Doyle/
Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Care Leavers have been 
consulted and 4 have 
been identified as 
potential candidates to 
become Ambassadors. 
Training has been 
identified through links 
with Staffordshire Care 
Leavers Forum to assist 
with training of the 
Ambassadors.
Care Ambassador 
apprentice role has 
been recruited too and 
CL in in post 
undertaking work with 
CiCC and Leaving Care 
Team

GREEN



40 | P a g e

11.5 Care Leavers pledge to be revised to 
ensure that it is compliant with 
guidance and sets out clearly what 
Care Leavers can expect when they 
leave local authority care. 

Care Leavers are aware of their 
entitlements and what support is 
available to them.  

Review
Service User 
Feedback

Karen 
Bradshaw/ 
Colleen Male/
Mick McCarthy/
Elaine Storey 
01/11/2018

Ongoing meeting with 
partners in benefits and 
revenues, Benefits 
agency, travel/leisure 
and VS have taken 
place to establish their 
offer to care leavers. 
Further meetings with 
Emotional Health and 
Well Being Service and 
LAC Health are required 
to ensure specific offer 
details are clear before 
committing to Local 
Offer communication 
with young people. 
Engagement with 
young people is being 
established to ensure 
they are aware and 
continue to 
communicate with the 
wider care leaver 
population, following 
the visit with the 
Implementation Advisor 
for Care Leavers.
Local Offer to be agreed 
by Cabinet and 
Directors

AMBER



41 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 12: 

Ensure that all homeless young people aged 16 and 17 years are offered appropriate accommodation.

Summary from Ofsted Inspection:

11.6 Develop Independence and life skills 
programme to commence from age of 
12 with all care providers that will 
deliver a consistent programme of 
independence for our care leavers.

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready.  

Audit
Feedback from 
young 
people/housing 
providers/PA’s.

Elaine Storey 
01/01/2019

Independence 
Programme agreed.  All 
providers are on board 
with agreed model. 
Further work is 
required to model 
embedded across all 
providers but this work 
will form part of the 
Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers 
Service Manager work 
plan. Report to 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel in May 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN

11.7 Create a marketplace for providers of 
temporary accommodation to buy 
into the independence programme to 
ensure that they tenancy ready.

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and able to access 
accommodation.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

As above.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

11.8 Training Flat to be made available to 
all young people transitioning into 
independence.

Young people to be prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready.

Audit
Feedback from 
young 
people/housing 
providers/PA’s

Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Training flat is now 
been used to support 
young people with 
developing 
independence skills.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN



42 | P a g e

 Social workers undertake appropriate assessments for homeless 16- and 17year-olds.
 However, they are not always timely enough, meaning that, when suitable alternative accommodation is necessary, any decision that a young 

person should become looked after is not always considered as quickly as possible. 
 A small number of young people in the last year have been placed inappropriately in bed and breakfast accommodation until more permanent 

arrangements could be made.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

12.1 Continue to work closely with Housing 
Options to ensure that joint 
assessments are immediate and 
appropriate efforts are made to gain 
suitable accommodation

16 and 17 year old homeless young 
people are assessed in a timely way 
and are consistently placed in 
suitable accommodation.

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Jeanette Hill 
01/11/2017

This work is on-going 
and regular meetings 
take place across 
Children’s Services and 
Housing to ensure that 
our responses are 
joined up, timely and 
result in good 
outcomes for the 
young person. 

GREEN

12.2 Housing to employ a Children and 
Young Person’s Coordinator post on a 
two years fixed term contract. 

To work alongside Children’s 
Services and offer immediate 
support to homeless 16 & 17 year 
olds to enable them to return 
home, or to support young people 
who refuse Local Authority 
accommodation under S20 or who 
do not meet the threshold under 
the Southwark judgement with an 
overall aim of ensuring that all 
homeless 16/17 years either return 
to their family or are offered 
suitable accommodation.  No 
young person being placed with 

Data and audit 
information

Laura Fisher
01/06/2018

Interviews have been 
completed and post 
offered to Julie Wilde – 
currently going 
through HR checks 
before start date to be 
agreed.

AMBER



43 | P a g e

B&B accommodation. 
12.3 CPS to include available supported 

board and lodgings placements in 
placement information given to EDT. 

16 and 17 year old homeless young 
people are assessed in a timely way 
and are consistently placed in 
suitable accommodation. 

Audit 
Performance 
Information

Lisa Preston 
01/03/2018

Action plan for SBL in 
place since beginning 
February 18.  One 
action is to develop 
and keep up to date 
database with 
information on SBL 
placements to be 
included in EDT 
placement update.  
This information is now 
being included in daily 
emails to EDT and 
senior manager on call. 

GREEN

12.4 Permission for any young person to 
be placed in B&B to be sought from 
the Director of Children's Services or 
the on call manager out of hours. 

Only in extreme situations should 
we be considering B&B 
accommodation for young people.  
Reduced use of B&B provision.

Performance 
Information

Lisa 
Preston/Fiona 
Adamson
15/01/2018

This process/system is 
embedded in practice

GREEN

12.5 All options of accommodation offered 
to be clearly evidenced in 
observations, including if the young 
person has declined section 20 
accommodation and the reasons for 
this. 

Clearer evidence on case files that 
options have been considered for 
housing 16&17 year olds.

Audit Lisa 
Preston/Jeanette 
Hill 
01/04/2018

Guidance to staff has 
been provided and this 
will be monitored 
through audit. 

AMBER

12.6 Development of a leaflet with options 
available for homeless 16/17 year old, 
produced jointly with housing 
services. This will include a form for 
young for young people to sign, 
showing that they have understood 

Evidence that young people have 
been given options and understand 
these clear on case files. 

Jeanette 
Hill/Laura Fisher
01/04/2018

Leaflet completed GREEN



44 | P a g e

options given to them. 
12.7 Strategic Working Group to be 

established to look at the availability 
of crash pads in the event of a crisis 
whilst assessments are undertaken. 

The right accommodation 
available to young people at point 
of crisis which will prevent them 
going into B&B accommodation. 

Audit Laura Fisher
01/04/2018

Working group in place 
– first meeting held 
26.02.2018 with 
diarised meetings 
every quarter – 
meetings ongoing

GREEN

Closing the Loop on Improvement Actions 

Shropshire Children’s services are committed to the continuous improvement of practice within the service and utilise the Quality Assurance Framework to 
review practice on a regular basis, creating actions for improvement. As part of this we have an auditing framework which includes monthly child journey 
audits, regular thematic audits and an IRO/ICC dispute resolution process, looking at the whole picture of practice, the learning from which is shared with 
workers and managers, including learning from the service users whom we contact as part of the audit.

 In addition to the Quality Assurance Framework, the IMPACT service user feedback project aims to change the culture and approach to gathering service user’s 
views within children’s services. One of the activities of this project is a service user feedback and practice observation week twice a year, the findings of which 
we will utilise alongside that from child journey audits, to measure the impact of our action plan. 



V6

1 | P a g e

SHROPSHIRE CHILDREN’S SERVICES
CARE LEAVERS ACTION PLAN  

Our journey of continuous improvement

‘All children and young people to be happy, healthy, and safe and reach their full potential, 
supported by their families, friends and the wider community’

Jan 2019 V7



V6

2 | P a g e

Introduction

In feedback from Mark Riddell, National Implementation Adviser for Care Leavers for the Department of Education, following his visit in February 2018, he 
commented , ‘I was very impressed by the leadership approach that was ambitious, aspirational and I got a real sense of passion and commitment to have 
a better offer for care leavers across the service area’.    Mark provided the Council with feedback on progress made to date and areas where further 
improvements are required.

The Ofsted Inspection in November 2017 noted the improvements made in the Care Leaving Service, however also identified areas for improvement.

This action plan encompasses the recommendations and findings from Ofsted and feedback from Mark Riddell.  The action plan is ambitious and sets out 
key priority areas and actions to be undertaken to enable us to have strengthened Corporate Parenting arrangements, arrangements in place to promote 
effective engagement and participation with children and young people, which will enable all care leavers to receive an outstanding service. 

This action plan is pivotal in enabling us to demonstrate that we are making progress in key areas and to enable corporate parenting panel to fulfil its 
responsibilities and to hold relevant officers to account.  However, our success in measuring the impact of this work must come from children in care and 
Care Leavers themselves.  We are committed to delivering this action plan in conjunction and in partnership with the young people who are in receipt of 
care leaving services.  They will be the measure of our success in delivering improved and outstanding services. 



V6

3 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 1:   
Ensure that all pathway plans, have clear overall objectives and timely specific actions.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

1.1 All looked after young people to have a 
Pathway Plan in Place by their 16th 
Birthday.  

All young people to have a 
Pathway Plan that sets out 
clear objectives and timely 
specific actions.  

Audit
Data Measure

Steve Ladd
Elaine Storey
 01/05/2018

Work is currently 
being undertaken to 
ensure every 16 plus 
year old has an up to 
date pathway plan.  
Currently 78%  of  LAC 
16-17 year old’s have 
an up to date 
Pathway Plan and 
93% of Care Leavers 
have an up to date 
Pathway Plan. This 
work is now under 
scrutiny of weekly 
Exception Reporting 
and Performance 
Management 
Framework and is 
reported into 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel.  Does not need 
to be monitored 
separately via a Care 
Leaver Action Plan.
ACTION COMPLETE    

Green

1.1 Outcome focused planning workshop 
to take place with all Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IROs) and Child 

Outcome focused Care and 
Pathway plans to be created by 
social workers and Personal 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Donna 
Chapman 

Martin Calder has 
delivered 4 scheduled 
outcome focus 

Green



V6

4 | P a g e

Protection Chairs, Team Managers, 
Social Workers, Personal Advisors PA’s) 
and Virtual School – delivered by 
Research In Practice 

Advisors and given additional 
quality assurance by 
Independent Reviewing 
Officers.  All children to have 
an up to date plan which is 
progressing in line with their 
needs, with clear timescales  
and which is outcome focused. 

01/04/2018 planning workshops.
Guidance and tools in 
place and have been 
shared with staff.
Plans remain a 
practice priority and 
are subject to scrutiny 
through Quality 
Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

1.2 Develop practice guidance on how to 
write a SMART outcome focused plan 
including Do's, Don'ts, hints and tips. 

Social workers and PA’s will have 
an easily accessible guide to 
writing an outcome-focused plan, 
improving the quality of outcome-
focused plans.

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Pippa 
Murphy 
01/04/2018

Guidance supported 
by training in Nov ’18 
has been sent to all 
team managers and 
discussed at end to 
end.
Plans remain a 
practice priority and 
are subject to scrutiny 
through Quality 
Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

1.3 Revise pathway plan templates as part 
of Liquid Logic and consult children, 
young people and their families on 
this. 

All children's plans will be written 
in conjunction with children and 
young people, in an outcome 
focused style, which children and 
young people are able to 
understand. 

Review Siobhan 
Hughes/Lisa Kelly 
01/11/2018

New template 
introduced and 
supported by training 
in Nov ’18.  Quality 
Assurance Framework 
is evidencing 
improvements in 
quality of Pathway 
Plans.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green



V6

5 | P a g e

1.4 Principal Social Worker to undertake 
Pathway Plans with AYSEs (Assessed 
and Supported Year in Practice) , 
creating good examples of Pathway 
Plans. 

Workers will understand 
expectations for good quality 
Pathway Plans and AYSEs will 
develop skills to consistently create 
good pathway plans. 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
01/10/2018

Pathway Plans have 
been identified for 
the Principal Social 
Worker to work 
alongside ASYE’s. 
Mick McCarthy is also 
delivering Pathway 
plan training in 
Oct/Nov/Feb.
Improvements in 
timeliness and quality 
of Pathway Plan’s 
evidenced through 
Quality Assurance 
Framework.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

1.5 Pathway Planning workshop to take 
place with all relevant teams

Workers will have the skills to 
create high quality pathway plans 
and improvement shown in 
auditing. 

Audit Siobhan 
Hughes/Elaine 
Storey 
01/05/2018

Pathway Plan 
workshops have 
taken place. One last 
mop up workshop to 
take place in February 
2019.  Improvements 
in Pathway Planning 
evident through 
Quality Assurance 
Framework
ACTION COMPLETE 

Green

1.6 Bi-annual themed audit of 25 plans to 
take place across children's services as 

Understanding of the quality of 
children's plans across children's 

Audit Siobhan Hughes 
30/07/2018

Audit was completed 
in July 2018.  Further 
audit took place in 

Green



V6

6 | P a g e

part of the Quality Assurance 
Framework to ensure that they are 
SMART and outcome focused. 

services and individual feedback 
and support created for workers. 

December 2018.  The 
finding of this audit 
will be shared with 
Managers in January 
2019.  This activity 
will form part of 
normal Quality 
Assurance Framework 
activity. 
ACTION COMPLETE 

1.7 Leaving Care Team to receive IT 
support to understand how best to 
make the most of their IT equipment, 
including Digital Recording. 

To increase the amount of time 
PA’s have available to spend with 
Care Leavers. 

Audit
Feedback from 
young 
people/PA’s. 

Elaine Storey
01/05/2018

IT support visited 
Team 3rd May 2018 
delivered hands on 
workshop.
Signposted to Leap 
into Learning guidance 
sheets.
Staff are now making 
full use of IT 
equipment to support 
Digital Recording.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

RECOMMENDATION 2:   
Ensure that care leavers have the opportunity to access apprenticeships to increase their opportunities for education, employment 
and training.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

2.1 Establish a corporate commitment to 
providing Care Leavers with the 
opportunity to access apprenticeships 

 Suitable opportunities for Care 
Leavers across Shropshire Council. 

Review  Clive Wright
01/02/2018

Corporate 
commitment and 
support given to 
create up to 10 

Green



V6

7 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

across Shropshire Council. apprentices across the 
Council.
Apprenticeships now 
in place.
ACTION COMPLETE 

2.2 Establish a cross Directorate 
apprenticeship group, chaired by the 
DCS to agree a clear process for the 
identification across the council of 
LAC apprenticeships. 

Increased numbers of LAC 
apprenticeships being offered to 
young people

Review Karen 
Bradshaw/Michelle 
Leith
01/02/2018

This Task and Finish 
Group was established 
and is now concluded 
as apprenticeships 
were developed and 
recruited to.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

2.3 Representative of children's services 
to attend the monthly apprenticeship 
levy board meetings.

Increased opportunities for LAC 
young people to access 
apprenticeships. 

Review Donna Chapman 
01/02/2018

Complete – Donna 
Chapman Workforce 
Lead now attends this 
meeting. Tracie 
Watson Team 
manager, Leaving Care 
is part of this work,
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

2.4 Apprentice Care Leaver Ambassador 
to be established within the Leaving 
Care Team.

To ensure that the views of Care 
Leavers are represented and to 
increase participation in all areas 
of strategic work. 

Position 
established.

01/05/2018 Appointment made in 
August 2018 and 
Ambassador is 
developing role.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

2.5 To explore opportunities for a pre-
employment course to be made 
available to care leavers before they 
commence on an apprenticeship and 
to explore support to be made 
available to care leavers during 

To ensure that care leavers are 
fully prepared and supported for 
and during their apprenticeship.

Support in 
place.
Feedback from 
care Leavers.

Tracie Watson
01/05/2017

An internal pre-
employment course 
has been delivered to 
all identified Care 
Leaver 
Apprenticeships.  We 
will be looking to 

Green



V6

8 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

course of the apprenticeship develop this further in 
respect of next cohort 
of Care Leavers.
ACTION COMPLETE

RECOMMENDATION 3:   
Improve the arrangements for preparing care leavers for independent living, ensuring that they have appropriate opportunities for 
participation and that they know what support they can expect under the Shropshire pledge.



V6

9 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 4:

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

3.1 Develop Independence and life skills 
programme to commence from age of 
12 with all care providers that will 
deliver a consistent programme of 
independence for our care leavers.

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready.  

Audit
Feedback from 
young 
people/housing 
providers/PA’s.

Elaine Storey 
01/01/2019

Independence 
Programme agreed.  All 
providers are on board 
with agreed model. 
Further work is 
required to model 
embedded across all 
providers but this work 
will form part of the 
Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers 
Service Manager work 
plan. Report to 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel in May 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE 

GREEN

3.2 Create a marketplace for providers of 
temporary accommodation to buy 
into the independence programme to 
ensure that they tenancy ready. 

Young people who are prepared for 
independence and able to access 
accommodation.

Audit Elaine Storey 
01/06/2018

As above.
ACTION COMPLETE

GREEN

3.3 Training Flat to be made available to 
all young people transitioning into 
independence. 

Young people to be prepared for 
independence and are tenant ready. 

Audit
Feedback from 
young 
people/housing 
providers/PA’s

Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Training flat is now 
been used to support 
young people with 
developing 
independence skills.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green



V6

10 | P a g e

Ensure that all Care Leavers are offered appropriate accommodation.

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

4.1 Housing to employ a Children and 
Young Person’s Coordinator post on a 
two years fixed term contract. 

To work alongside Children’s 
Services to support all young 
people in care and Care Leavers 
who are transitioning into 
independence or require housing 
support. 

Data and audit 
information

Laura Fisher
01/06/2018

Post appointed to and 
worker in post.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

4.2 Review of housing options for Care 
Leavers to be undertaken to consider 
sufficiency and suitability.

To ensure that all care leavers have 
the opportunity to live within 
suitable accommodation.
To ensure that only suitable 
accommodation is being offered to 
Care Leavers.  

Data and Audit 
Information
Feedback from 
Care Leavers,

Colleen Male
Laura Fisher
Elaine Storey
01/05/2018

Initial meeting held 
10th April 2018.
Monthly meetings now 
take place to discuss 
individual care leaving 
young people.  Care 
Leaving young people 
now receive a gold 
band rating to receive 
priority status to 
obtain 
accommodation.  New 
Century Court is new 
accommodation 
available for young 
people.  
Laura Fisher now sits 
on Corporate 
Parenting Panel.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

4.3 In accordance with chapter 17 of the To ensure that all care leavers have Data and Audit Laura Fisher Action in place. Green



V6

11 | P a g e

‘Homelessness Code of Guidance for 
Local Authorities’ any decisions 
regarding care leavers (aged 22-25) 
deemed to be not in Priority Need or 
care leavers (aged 18-25) deemed to 
be Intentionally Homeless must be 
agreed by the Housing Services 
Manager and Care Leaver Service 
Manager before final decisions are 
issued.  If a decision is unable to be 
agreed by relevant service managers 
decision to be escalated to DCS and 
DASS.

available to them suitable 
accommodation to help them 
overcome any challenges that they 
may be facing.

01/04/2018
ACTION COMPLETE

4.4 All care providers offering care, 
accommodation and support to Care 
Leavers to be provided with 
information about how they can best 
maintain relationships and support 
young people that have previously 
been in the care of the Local 
Authority.  

To ensure that Care Leavers 
receive appropriate support and 
are able to form lifelong 
relationships once they move on to 
a new living arrangement

Data and Audit Elaine Story
Lisa Preston
Laura Fisher
01/07/2018

Discussions currently 
taking place about how 
best to facilitate this.  
We would hope to 
involve the Leaving 
Care Ambassador in 
this work.  
This work to be on-
going by the service 
and doesn’t require 
oversight from an 
action plan.
Report to Corporate 
Parenting Panel in June 
2019.
ACTION COMPLETE

Amber

4.5 To continue to develop opportunities 
for staying put and staying close.

To maximise support opportunities 
for care leavers so they feel 
supported as they transition into 

Data Mick McCarthy
28/02/2019

Work is on track to 
revise Staying Put 
policy by end Feb 
2019. 

Green



V6

12 | P a g e

independence, at a time that is 
right for them.  

ACTION COMPLETE

RECOMMENDATION 5:
Ensure that Corporate Parenting Panel is Strengthened to Fulfill its Corporate Parenting Responsibilities

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact 
Measure

Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact 
RAG 

5.1 Review of Corporate Parenting Panel 
Terms of Reference and membership 
to take place. 

To ensure that the roles and 
responsibilities of the panel are 
fully understood and to secure 
commitment from key partner 
agencies. 

Revised Terms 
of Reference 
and 
Membership

Councilor Nick 
Bardsley
Colleen Male
Elaine Storey
01/05/2018

Complete. Terms of 
reference updated and 
in operation.
ACTION COMPLETE 
 

Green

5.2 Review of Corporate Parenting 
Terms of Reference in conjunction 
with young people how young 
people will participate in Panel 
meetings and areas of business. 

To ensure that LAC and Care 
Leavers contribute to Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 

Revised Terms 
of Reference 
and 
Membership 
and SU 
Feedback

Councillor Nick 
Bardsley
Colleen Male
Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Complete. Leaving 
Care Ambassador 
attends panel and 
ensures young people 
are engaged when 
appropriate.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

5.3 Data scorecard for Care Leavers to be 
established and to be produced on a 
quarterly basis.  Focus to be given on 
key performance measures in 
respect of numbers and % and to 
provide a context for young people 
not hitting key measures. 

 To ensure there is a full 
understanding of the experience 
of our Care Leavers, which can be 
used to inform practice and 
service delivery.

Data Scorecard Elaine Storey
John Foster
Tracie Watson
01/05/2018

Data scorecard 
produced. As data is 
populated through 
introduction of Liquid 
Logic amendments will 
be added. Managers’ 
matrix now includes 
accurate caseload; 
PWP and in touch 
data. Liquid Logic will 
allow for suitable 

Green



V6

13 | P a g e

accommodation and 
Education, Training 
and Employment to be 
added
ACTION COMPLETE

5.4 Corporate Parenting Panel to 
confirm expectations of the Care 
Leaving Team as Corporate Parents.  
These expectations to be considered 
by the team at a Team Development 
Day.  

Team to promote a positive and 
clear message to Care Leavers 
about the Corporate Parent 
commitment to meeting their 
needs individually and 
strategically as well as hearing 
their voice.

Outcome of 
Team 
Development 
Session
Feedback from 
Care Leavers.

Elaine Storey
Tracie Watson
01/07/2018

Mike McCarthy 
1/8/18

Team day TBA when 
new staff in post, Feb 
2019. 
Plans in place to 
undertake this session 
and doesn’t need to 
be part of a separate 
action plan.
ACTION COMPLETE

Amber

5.5 Care Leavers pledge to be revised in 
conjunction with young people to 
ensure that it is compliant with 
guidance and that the local offer sets 
out clearly what Care Leavers can 
expect when they leave local 
authority care.

Care Leavers are aware of their 
entitlements and what support is 
available to them.  

Care Leaving 
Offer
Feedback from 
young people

Elaine Story
01/06/2018

Pledge approved. 
Local offer now 
drafted. Awaiting 
printing before final 
draft produced.  
Launch day of local 
offer and care leaver 
covenant to take place 
early summer 2019. 
This work will continue 
under governance of 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

RECOMMENDATION 6:
Arrangements within the Leaving Care Team to be Strengthened.



V6

14 | P a g e

Ref Actions Expected Impact/Outcome Impact Measure Lead and
Timescale

Progress to date Progress 
RAG 

Impact RAG 

6.1 Review of Leaving Care Team 
capacity and caseloads to be 
undertaken. 

To ensure that the Leaving Care 
Team has the capacity to deliver 
outstanding services to our Care 
Leavers. 

Review and 
recommendations 
in place

Elaine Storey
01/07/2018

2 new posts have 
been appointed to. 
Capacity is now 
available.  New 
workers will be in 
post by end of 
January 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.2 As part of this review consideration 
to be given to establishing targeted 
workers to lead on key areas of 
practice and to work alongside 
care leaver champions. 

 To drive forward improvements 
in key areas of the Care Leaving 
Service. 

Review and 
recommendations 
in place.

Elaine Storey
01/05/2018

Participation lead PA 
post in place. Housing 
worker appointed.
Care Leaver 
Champions in place 
who report into 
Corporate Parenting 
Panel.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.3 Review of the transfer protocol to 
take place to consider when in 
which circumstances the role of 
the PA should commence.  This 
work is to be used to inform the 
review of capacity. 

To ensure that young people 
receive the support of a PA as 
soon as they need this.  

Review of 
protocol

Elaine Storey
01/05/18

New protocol 
approved. All 17-year 
old’s allocated by end 
Jan ’19.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.4 Review of Financial Policy to take 
place to ensure it reflects the 
needs of our Care Leavers.

To ensure levels of financial 
support are at an appropriate 
level.

Review of Policy Elaine Storey
01/07/2018

This is approved and 
contained within local 
offer.
ACTION COMPLETE 

Green

6.5 Meeting with Adults’ Services to 
take place to ensure that young 
people’s transition to Adults 
Services in a planned and timely 

Protocol to be established that 
ensures there is no disruption in 
support and service during the 
period of transition. 

Meeting to take 
place
Audit
Feedback from 

Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

1st meeting has taken 
place.  Plans in place 
to produce a joint 
protocol. Ptotocol to 
be presented to 

Green



V6

15 | P a g e

way. young people Corporate Parenting 
Panel in March 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE

6.6 To establish a care leaver forum 
which meets on a regular basis, to 
undertake activities and to consult 
and participate in key areas of 
work.  

To ensure that care leavers have 
the opportunity to contribute to 
practice and service 
development and that we learn 
from their care experience. 

Care Leaver 
Forum with a 
planner to be 
established 

Elaine Storey
01/07/2018

First Care Leaver 
Forum took place 
6/6/18 led by Marvin 
Campbell and the 
Team.  Care Leavers 
Forum is now 
established and 
meetings take place 
on a fortnightly basis.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.7 Meeting to take place with 0-25 
Emotional Health and Well-Being 
Service to confirm local offer to 
Care Leavers. 

To ensure that Care Leavers 
receive timely help and support 
in relation to their emotional 
health and well-being.

Clear offer in 
place.

Colleen Male
Elaine Storey
01/06/2018

Initial discussions 
have taken place and 
further actions will be 
completed.
0-25 service are 
contributing to final 
Local Offer for Care 
Leavers.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.8 Care Leaver’s celebration Event to 
take place during Care Leaver’s 
Week – 25th October – 3rd 
November 2018. This is to become 
an annual event.

To celebrate the achievements 
of our care leavers

Celebration Event 
to take place

Elaine Storey
Tracie Watson
October 2018

Event held October 
2018.  Feedback 
extremely positive 
and we will look to 
repeat event in 2019.
ACTION COMPLETE

Green

6.9 To become a member of the 
National Benchmarking Forum.

To benefit from good practice 
guidance, training sessions and 
learning from other local 
authorities to enhance service 
delivery. 

Membership Elaine Storey
01/04/2018

Complete – 
membership in place.  
ACTION COMPLETE

Green



V6

16 | P a g e

Closing the Loop on Improvement Actions 

Shropshire Children’s services are committed to the continuous improvement of practice within the service and utilise the Quality Assurance Framework to 
review practice on a regular basis, creating actions for improvement. As part of this we have an auditing framework which includes monthly child journey 
audits, regular thematic audits and an IRO/ICC dispute resolution process, looking at the whole picture of practice, the learning from which is shared with 
workers and managers, including learning from the service users whom we contact as part of the audit.

 In addition to the Quality Assurance Framework, the IMPACT service user feedback project aims to change the culture and approach to gathering service user’s 
views within children’s services. One of the activities of this project is a service user feedback and practice observation week twice a year, the findings of which 
we will utilise alongside that from child journey audits, to measure the impact of our action plan. 



People Overview 
Committee

20 February 2019

Item

Public

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2018 – 2019

Responsible officer
Tom Dodds, Statutory Scrutiny Officer
tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk
01743 258518

1.0 Summary

1.1 This paper presents Overview and Scrutiny’s proposed work programme for the 
year ahead. The committees have based their programmes on topics from 
Shropshire Council’s Strategic Action Plan. Committees will also 

 scrutinise thematic priorities
 respond to emerging issues and 
 follow up on previous work.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Committee members to: 
 confirm the proposed work programme attached as appendix 1.
 suggest changes to the committee work programme and
 recommend other topics to consider

3.0 Background 

3.1 Overview and Scrutiny’s committees base this work programme on topics from 
Shropshire Council’s Strategic Action Plan. They also 

 scrutinise thematic priorities
 respond to emerging issues
 follow up on previous work
 carry out cross-committee work through task and finish groups.

3.2 The current work programme is attached as appendix 1.

mailto:tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk


4.0 Next steps

4.1 Overview and scrutiny updates this report on an ongoing basis and presents it to 
each overview and scrutiny committee. This will allow members the opportunity to 
contribute to its development at each committee meeting.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not 
include items containing exempt or confidential information)
None

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
All

Local Member
All 

Appendices
Overview and scrutiny work programme

Overview and scrutiny task and finish groups



1

Appendix 1
Overview and Scrutiny work programme 2018 to 2019

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Financial 
Strategy Task 
and Finish 
Group
final report

 Consider the budget proposals and 
identify the priority areas for further 
consideration

 Identify any likely impacts of the budget 
proposals and explore how these will be 
managed with the relevant officers and 
Portfolio Holders.

 Scrutinise investment and income 
proposals

task and finish 
group report

Group Chair

Head of 
Finance, 
Governance & 
Assurance

Proposals for investment 
and income generation are 
sound.

6 Feb 
2019

Meeting 
Housing Need

 To scrutinise proposals to meet housing 
need in the county, in particular the 
three key decisions areas of:
o strategic aims
o development scope and ambition
o governance

task and finish 
group report

Director of Place Proposals have political 
backing for their scope, aim 
and governance. 

6 Feb 
2019



2

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Q2 2018/19 
Corporate 
Performance 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in detail or refer to 
the appropriate overview and scrutiny 
committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

6 Feb
2019

Q2 2018/19 
Financial 
Monitoring 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in detail or refer to 
the appropriate overview and scrutiny 
committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Head of 
Finance, 
Governance & 
Assurance

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

6 Feb 
2019

Climate 
Change task 
and finish 
group

 Appraise the merit of setting up a task 
and finish group to scrutinise how the 
council tackles climate change.

Verbal report Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

6 Feb 
2019

Asset 
management 
strategy

 Scrutinise the current asset 
management strategy

Overview report Head of 
Finance, 
Governance & 
Assurance

Asset management 
strategy supports the 
capital and investment 
strategy.

6 Mar
2019



3

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Q3 2018/19 
Corporate 
Performance 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in detail or refer to 
the appropriate overview and scrutiny 
committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Head of 
Finance, 
Governance & 
Assurance

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

6 Mar 
2019 

Q3 2018/19 
Financial 
Monitoring 
Report

 Consider the key underlying and 
emerging performance issues. 

 Identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in greater detail or 
refer to the appropriate overview and 
scrutiny committee.

Cabinet 
performance 
report

Information, 
Intelligence and 
Insight Manager

Committee develops its 
insight into council 
performance, and focuses 
its work on relevant 
performance issues.

6 Mar 
2019

Car parking 
strategy

 Receive an update on implementation of 
the recent car parking strategy

Parking income 
and other data

Committee 
report

Update of 
roadworks and 
street works 
task and finish 
group

 To scrutinise progress against the 
recommendations of the roadworks and 
street works task and finish group

Committee 
report

Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

Greater public satisfaction 
with the process of carrying 
out roadworks and street 
works.

5 June 
2019



4

Performance Management Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Corporate 
Peer 
Challenge 
Report and 
Action Plan

 Identify the priorities for action emerging 
from the recent corporate peer 
challenge.

 Scrutinise the council’s progress in 
implementing the report action plan.

corporate peer 
challenge report 
and action plan 
and progress 
report 

Chief Executive Shropshire Council is 
making good progress in 
implementing the peer 
challenge action plan.

TBA

Corporate 
Peer 
Challenge 
Report and 
Action Plan – 
exception 
report

 Scrutinise progress against the action 
plan.

 Identify areas for development and 
make recommendations for 
improvement.

action plan 
update report

Chief Executive Assurance that the council 
is making progress in 
developing its action plan.

TBA

Communities Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Engaging 
diverse 
communities

 To agree a terms of reference and 
work programme to devise a strategy 
for engaging with the diverse 
communities of the county, using this 
work to inform a report by the chief 
executive.

terms of 
reference and 
work programme
+

Director of Place Appropriate and effective 
mechanisms to 
communicate with and 
engage with diverse 
communities are in place.

28 Jan 
2019



5

Communities Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Burial capacity  To receive an update on work to 
secure adequate burial space in 
Shropshire

committee 
overview report

TBA Ensure adequate burial 
space in Shropshire.

28 Jan 
2019

Community 
Safety Strategy

 Understand the updated community 
safety strategy

 Scrutinise the research underpinning 
any changes to the strategy.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Community 
Safety Manager

Assurance that the 
Community Safety Strategy 
identifies the right priorities 
for its work. 

18 Mar 
2019

Public rights of 
way

 Understand the challenges faced in 
keeping public rights of way open.

 Scrutinise how rights of way are 
determined, maintained, protected 
and adjusted

 Understand the council’s 
responsibilities and budget with regard 
to maintenance of public rights of way.

presentation to 
committee

Great Outdoors 
Strategy

18 Mar 
2019

Community 
Hubs

 Consider the development of plans for 
the creation of five community hubs.

 Ensure that the proposals will meet 
any needs resulting from social 
prescribing.

topic briefing 
note

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

TBA Ensure that community 
hubs effectively meet the 
needs of Shropshire 
people.

18 
March 
2019



6

Communities Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or added 
value

Work 
date

Communication 
with town and 
parish councils

 Understand how Shropshire Council 
communicates with town and parish 
councils, and make recommendations 
for how this can be strengthened.

Committee 
overview report

TBA 3 June 
2019

Digital 
Transformation 
Programme

 Understand how the programme is 
improving the council’s service to its 
customers.

Committee 
overview report

Technology and 
Communications 
Manager

16 Sep 
2019

Food poverty  16 Sep 
2019



7

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Smoking 
cessation 
services

 Understand existing smoking 
cessation services

 Scrutinise proposals for service 
change.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director of 
Public Health

21 Jan 
2019

Future Fit 
consultation 
findings

 Receive an update on the recent 
consultation on Future Fit 
reconfiguration of NHS services in 
Shropshire, including Telford and 
Wrekin.

Consultation 
findings

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Chair, Health 
and Social Care 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Assurance that the 
consultation has been 
carried out thoroughly, and 
its findings acted upon 
appropriately.

21 Jan 
2019

Care Closer to 
Home

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director of 
Performance 
and Delivery, 
Shropshire CCG

25 Mar 
2019

ASC Quality 
Assurance 
Framework

committee 
overview report

Director, Adult 
Services

25 Mar 
2019



8

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Ambulance 
services

(with pre-
meeting 
briefing 
session)

 Understand how the service handles 
the most serious calls and the 
service’s heaviest users.

 Scrutinise how the service uses 
response times to deliver an effective 
service.

 Provide feedback on a planned visit to 
the West Midlands Ambulance 
Service 

Map of public 
defibrillators in 
Shropshire

directory of 
ownership and 
maintenance

WMAS 
performance 
data and quality 
accounts

Future Fit travel 
and transport 
analysis

Shropshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group
 

20 May
2019

Better Care 
and Improved 
Better Care 
funds

 Consider the Improved Better Care 
Fund and its implications for 
Shropshire people. 

 Understand the outcomes of the fund 
and whether these have been 
achieved.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director, Adult 
Services

15 July 
2019



9

Health and Social Care Scrutiny Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Regulatory 
services

 Understand how the council’s 
regulatory services contribute to the 
health and wellbeing of Shropshire’s 
communities

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Director of 
Public Health

15 July 
2019

Review of 111 
commissioning

 Scrutinise progress in delivering the 
new arrangements for 111 services in 
Shropshire.

committee 
overview report

presentation to 
committee

Shropshire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group

15 July 
2019

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Early help 
hubs

 Receive an update on development 
of the early help hubs 

Verbal update Head of Early 
Help 
Partnerships 
and 
Commissioning

Ensure progress in 
developing early help hubs.

20 Feb 
2019



10

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

Progress and 
impact of the 
delivery of the 
Ofsted Action 
Plan

 Scrutinise progress with the 
implementation of the Ofsted Action 
Plan and the benefits realised for 
children, young people and families 
in Shropshire.

overview report Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Provide assurance that the 
council is making good 
progress in implementing 
its action plan, delivering 
the required improvements.

20 Feb 
2019

Opportunities 
for Looked 
After Children  
and care 
leavers to 
achieve their 
potential

 Scrutiny of the implementation of the 
Looked After Children Plan and the 
delivery of improved outcomes.

 Examine the availability and uptake 
of apprenticeships and employment, 
and housing support, and consider 
the benefits and impact.

Updated Looked 
After Children 
Plan

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Safeguarding

Assurance that Shropshire 
Council is delivering better 
outcomes for looked after 
children and care leavers.

20 Feb 
2019

Shropshire 
Adults Board 
Annual Report

 Provide an overview of the 
Safeguarding Adults Board’s work 
during the previous year.

 Scrutinise changes to governance 
arrangements for the Safeguarding 
Children Board and Safeguarding 
Adults Board.

Shropshire 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
Annual Report

Independent 
Chair, 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Contribute to developing 
governance arrangements 
for safeguarding in 
Shropshire.

27 Mar 
2019



11

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

SEND peer 
review

 Scrutinise the findings and any 
actions from the recent peer review 
of services for children and young 
people with special educational 
needs.

Peer review 
findings and 
action plan

Presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Ensure the service’s 
actions plans address the 
recommendations of the 
peer review.

27 Mar 
2019

Warmer 
Homes

 Understand Shropshire Council’s role 
in ensuring people living in privately 
owned or rented homes have warm 
homes.

 Explore opportunities for Shropshire 
Council to take a greater role in this 
work.

Background 
report and 
presentation

Director, Adult 
Services

Ensure people living in 
privately owned or rented 
homes have warm homes.

27 Mar 
2019

Empty Homes  Understand the extent and impact of 
empty homes in Shropshire.

 Scrutinise work to minimise the 
number of empty homes in 
Shropshire.

Presentation and 
overview report

27 Mar 
2019

SEN support in 
specialist 
school hubs

 Understand how children with special 
educational needs are supported in 
education.

Children with special 
educational needs have the 
right educational support for 
their needs.

5 June 
2019



12

People Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to 
be heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work date

School 
improvement

 Scrutinise the impact of changes 
Shropshire Council’s education 
improvement service.

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Monitor the impacts of 
changes to the service and 
make any 
recommendations for 
change.

5 June 
2019

Children’s 
services 
performance 
dashboard

 Scrutinise safeguarding and early 
help performance. 

 Identify any specific patterns or 
changes which need to be looked at 
in detail.

overview report

presentation

Director, 
Children’s 
Services

Ensure that Shropshire 
Council is targeting support 
where needed to improve 
safeguarding.

5 June 
2019

Future topics for consideration include:

 Homepoint
 Drug and alcohol services for young people: To scrutinise the provision of drug and alcohol support services for young people.
 Short breaks for respite care

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date



13

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Local economic 
growth 
strategies

 Review local economic growth 
strategies

overview report

presentation

Head of Economic 
Growth

Ensure that market towns 
have effective growth 
strategies

15 Feb 
2019

Spotlight on  a 
market town

 Understand how the learning from 
the local economic growth strategy 
and the Shrewsbury Big Town plan 
apply to development in a market 
town.

overview report

presentation

Supporting 
policies

15 Feb 
2019

Place shaping – 
diversification 
of the local 
economy

 Scrutinise progress with the 
delivery of the Council’s Economic 
Growth Strategy, with particular 
focus on keys sectors, higher 
added value businesses, numbers 
of new jobs created, and new 
companies Shropshire in the key 
target sectors. 

 Consider progress in securing 
investment in the digital and health 
care sector.

overview report

presentation

Head of Economic 
Growth

Ensure that housing, 
transport and built 
environment strategies 
effectively support 
economic growth.

Provide assurance that 
the Economic Growth 
Strategy is delivering 
economic benefits.

28 Mar 
2019



14

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Shopping 
Centres

 Scrutinise how the council is 
managing its shopping centres in 
Shrewsbury town centre.

 Receive an update on progress in 
redeveloping the centres.

overview report

presentation

Director of Place Ensure centres are 
managed well, and that 
good progress is being 
made with plans to 
redevelop the centres.

28 Mar 
2019

Shrewsbury 
BID

 Scrutinise how the Shrewsbury BID 
supports businesses in Shrewsbury 
town centre.

overview report

presentation

Head of Economic 
Growth

(Cllr Laurens)

28 Mar 
2019

Local Transport 
Plan

 Consider the development of the 
new Local Transport Plan and how 
it relates to the delivery of the 
Council’s priorities.

overview report

presentation

Head of 
Commissioning

Contribute to 
development of Local 
Transport Plan.

Provide assurance that 
the plan contributes to 
housing and economic 
growth plans

6 June 
2019

Support for 
small and 
medium 
enterprises

 Understand how the local authority 
aligns it services to support small 
and medium enterprises looking to 
set up or locate to Shropshire, 
following a recommendation from 
the committee in November 2018.

Overview report Head of Economic 
Growth

18 Jul 
2019



15

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Highways 
winter service 
plan

 Understand the lesson learned 
from the previous winter 
maintenance plan. 

 Scrutinise planning for the winter 
period 2019-2020.

overview report

presentation

Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

Contribute to 
development of a winter 
service plan that ensure 
safe highways and 
protects vulnerable 
people.

18 Jul 
2019

Place shaping – 
households and 
accessible 
green space

 Scrutinise progress in 
implementing accessible green 
place strategy in light on local plan 
and place plan development

overview report

presentation

Development of open 
spaces that improve the 
liveability of towns and 
villages

Ensure that open spaces 
maximise the opportunity 
for people Improve their 
health and wellbeing.

18 Jul 
2019

Local Plan and 
place plans

 Consider the revised Local Plan.
 Scrutinise supporting policy within 

the local plan policy suite.
 Understand how the local plan 

supports economic growth and 
other corporate priorities.

report Include 
overview of Local 
Plan and key 
changes to 
existing plan, 
including Green 
belt review

Head of Economic 
Growth

Assurance that the Local 
Plan support housing, 
transport and economic 
growth priorities.

18 Jul 
2019



16

Place Overview Committee

Topic Intended outcomes or objectives What output is 
required?

Who needs to be 
heard from?

Expected impact or 
added value

Work 
date

Review of 
policy on A 
boards

 To scrutinise a planned 
consultation and its findings

 To make recommendations on 
future policy in light of consultation 
findings.

Overview report Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

The policy balances the 
needs for businesses to 
advertise their 
businesses with 
maximising footpath 
accessibility.

5 Sep 
2019

WSP annual 
report

 Scrutinise performance of our 
highways delivery partnership

Annual report Highways, 
Transport and 
Environment 
Commissioning 
Manager

7 Nov 
2019

Topics for consideration include:
 Rural exception site grants
 Local housing company



17

opics for consideration include:

 Rural exception site grants
 Local housing company
 Review of Car parking (October)

WSP annual report (October

Future t

 )

Appendix 2
Current and proposed task and finish groups

Title Objectives Next reporting



18

Title Objectives Next reporting
Financial Strategy and Innovation 
and Income Generation 

 To understand the process and activity stages for developing the 
Financial Strategy 2018/19 to 2022/23 and how these translate into the 
Council’s annual budgets

 To consider and scrutinise the proposals and emerging plans for the 
whole Financial Strategy and 2019/20 Budget, including how they align 
to the four pillars. This will be through their development and their 
implementation, in particular for innovation and raising income. 

 To consider the alignment of the Financial Strategy and the new 
Corporate Plan being developed autumn 2018.

 To consider the recommendations and areas for action identified in the 
Corporate Peer Challenge report relating to the Financial Strategy, and 
how they are being addressed.  

 To consider the direct and indirect impacts, including risks, of 2019/20 
Budget proposals on current services and customers.

 To complete specific pieces of work to identify and work up alternatives 
to emerging plans, including the feasibility of any alternative proposals

 Make evidence based recommendations in relation to plans and 
approaches for innovation and income generation, and alternative 
proposals for future budget setting.

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
6 February

Road casualty reduction  Further analyse statistics on people killed or seriously injured on roads in 
Shropshire.

 Understand the causes of casualties.
 Identify existing and potential local authority and partnership policies that 

can contribute to road casualty reduction.

Place Overview 
Committee
May 2019



19

Title Objectives Next reporting
Community Transport  To understand how community transport operates in Shropshire, and the 

demand for community transport services.
 Identify how the community transport groups, the council, and other 

partners can work together to provide community transport to people in 
Shropshire who do not have access to public or private transport.

Communities 
Overview Committee
May 2019

Engaging Diverse Communities  To review and propose the scope of Place Plans including their geography 
and subject areas

 To propose options to ensure Place Plans are developed from the bottom-
up

 To understand how rural enterprise features in our procurement / 
commissioning processes.

 To proposed opportunities to engage with Strategic Levels within the 
Council and partners in Place Planning

 To engage with Town and Parish Councils on options to reset their 
relationship with Shropshire Council

 To identify appropriate and effective mechanisms to communicate with and 
engage with diverse communities that can be used to inform co-design and 
collaboration on a range of matters

 Make evidence based recommendations

Communities 
Overview Committee 
February 2019

Brexit  To consider the information brought together to develop a view for 
Shropshire of the possible implications of BREXIT for the Shropshire 
economy and the achievement of the Economic Growth Strategy.

 To identify, with the relevant officers, the key evidence and related 
requirements of what Shropshire would require from a future UK funding 
approach.  

 To make evidence based recommendations to Cabinet.

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
TBA



20

Title Objectives Next reporting
Section 106 and Community 
Infrastructure Levy

 To understand how Shropshire Council currently uses Section 106, CIL 
and NHB and the impact that this has had

 To understand how Section 106, CIL and NHB could be used in 
Shropshire to enable or encourage projects or initiatives for economic 
growth and prosperity 

 To learn from other places how they have used Section 106, CIL and NHB 
to enable or encourage projects or initiatives for economic growth and 
prosperity

 To make evidence based recommendations on how Section 106, CIL and 
NHB could be used in Shropshire to enable or encourage projects or 
initiatives for economic growth and prosperity

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
TBA

Meeting housing need in 
Shropshire

 To investigate the three following key decision areas identified as crucial 
for the overall development of proposals:
 Strategic Aims
 Development Scope & Ambition
 Governance

Performance 
Management Scrutiny 
Committee 
6 February 2019


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Progress and Impact of the Delivery of the Ofsted Action Plan
	Ofsted Action Plan v13 Jan19
	Leaving Care Action Plan V7 Jan 2019

	10 Work Programme
	Work Programme


